
https://waterloowi.sharepoint.com/sites/Fileshares/data/Common/AGENDAS_ MINUTES/2023/FINANCE, INSURANCE & PERSONNEL/2023-05-18 Finance Meeting/2023-05-
18FinanceAgenda.docx 
5/16/2023 8:29 AM 

                 

                          136 North Monroe Street  
Waterloo, WI  53594 

      Phone: (920) 478-3025 
    Fax: (920) 478-2021 

www.waterloowi.us 

 
PUBLIC NOTICE OF A COMMITTEE MEETING OF THE 

CITY OF WATERLOO COMMON COUNCIL 
  
 

 
Pursuant to Section 19.84 Wisconsin Statutes, notice is hereby given to the public and news media, that a public meeting 
will be held to consider the following: 
 

COMMITTEE:  FINANCE, INSURANCE & PERSONNEL COMMITTEE 
DATE:   May 18, 2023 
TIME:   6:00 p.m. 
LOCATION:  Municipal Building Council Chamber, 136 N. Monroe Street  
    

Join Zoom Meeting     https://us02web.zoom.us/j/85145153716?pwd=Tkk4cm5BeVdDdno0UG1HZUtXeVlmQT09 
Meeting ID: 851 4515 3716     Passcode: 557978 
Dial by phone        +1 312 626 6799 US (Chicago) 
 

 
1) CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL 

 
2) APPROVAL OF MEETING MINUTES: April 20, 2023 & May 4, 2023 

 
3) PUBLIC COMMENT 

 
4) OLD BUSINESS 

 
5) NEW BUSINESS 

a) April  2023 Financial Statements: Payroll $ 77,395.69 , General Disbursements $ 589,423.03 and Clerk/Treasurer’s 
Reports [see on municipal website] 

b) City Hall Server Hosting V Purchasing 
c) IT Options and Comparisons 
d) Resolution 2023-19  Wire Transfer Policy at City Hall 
e) Resolution 2023-20  Wire Transfer Policy at Waterloo Water & Light 
f) Banking Options and Comparisons 
g) 2023-21 2022 Financial Carry-Over Approvals 
h) Fire Department-Payroll Processing 
i) Fire Department Ambulance Chassis and Remount 
j) Fire Department Town of Waterloo EMS Agreement 
k) Fire Department Policies and Procedures 
l) Fire Department Town of Milford 
m) Signs from Signmaster  
n) Discussion regarding 2024 Budget Strategy  
 
 

6) FUTURE AGENDA ITEMS AND ANNOUNCEMENTS 
 
 

7) ADJOURNMENT 

 
Jeanne Ritter 
Clerk/ Deputy Treasurer 
        
Committee Members:  Thomas, Weihert and Kuhl       Posted, Emailed & Distributed: 05/12/2023. 

PLEASE NOTE: It is possible that members of and possibly a quorum of members of other governmental bodies of the municipality may attend the above meeting(s) to gather information. No action 
will be taken by any governmental body other than that specifically noted. Also, upon reasonable notice, efforts will be made to accommodate the needs of disabled individuals through appropriate 
aids and services. For additional information or to request such services please contact the clerk’s office at the above location.  

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/85145153716?pwd=Tkk4cm5BeVdDdno0UG1HZUtXeVlmQT09
https://www.waterloowi.us/clerk-treasurer/pages/monthly-financial-statements


https://waterloowi.sharepoint.com/sites/Fileshares/data/Common/AGENDAS_ MINUTES/2023/FINANCE, INSURANCE & PERSONNEL/2023-04-20 Finance Meeting/2023-04-
20FinanceMinutes.docx 
5/12/2023 8:50 AM 

CITY OF WATERLOO FINANCE, INSURANCE & PERSONNEL COMMITTEE: MEETING MINUTES  
April  20, 2023 

[a digital recording of this meeting also serves as the official record] 
 

 
1. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL. Thomas called the meeting to order at 6:03 p.m. Members in person: Thomas 

Remote: Kuhl, Thomas and Weihert.  Absent: none Other attending in person or remote: Mayor Quimby; Deputy 
Clerk/Treasurer Nelson; City Clerk Ritter; DPW Yerges, Police Chief Sorenson, Fire Chief Benisch,  1st Lt J. Butzine,  
and Utilities Superintendent Sorenson.     
 

2. APPROVAL OF MEETING MINUTES: Motion to approve Meeting Minutes: March 16, 2023, March 21, 2023 and April 

13, 2023. [Kuhl/Weihert] VOICE VOTE: Motion carried. 
 

3. PUBLIC COMMENT: none 
 
4. OLD BUSINESS - none  

 
5. NEW BUSINESS 

a. March  2023 Financial Statements: Payroll $78,518.07  , General Disbursements $346,717.18 and Clerk/Treasurer’s 
Reports [see on municipal website]   Motion [Weihert/Kuhl] VOICE VOTE: Motion carried.   

b. 2022 Audit Presentation – Baker Tilley Motion to move to end [Kuhl/Thomas] VOICE VOTE:  Motion carried. This 
ended up only being presented at Council.   

c. Resolution 2023-16 Awarding a Contract for Waterloo Road.  Motion [Kuhl/Weihert] VOICE VOTE: Motion carried.   
d. Shredding Bids for City Hall and Police Department.  Motion [Kuhl/Weihert] Recommend to Council to go with 

Pelletteri 
e. Town of Waterloo EMS Contract Motion [Kuhl/Weihert] Accepting more coverage for the Town of Waterloo.  

VOICE VOTE:  Motion carried.   
f. Review Ordinance §85-4 Probationary Period. Motion [Thomas/Kuhl] to update ordinance to 12 months.  VOICE 

VOTE:  Motion carried.   

 
6. FUTURE AGENDA ITEMS AND ANNOUNCEMENTS 

a. Committee Calendar (for reference) 
 

 
7. ADJOURNMENT. MOTION: [Kuhl/Weihert] To adjourn. VOICE VOTE:  Motion carried. Approximate time 6:48pm 

 
 
Jeanne Ritter 
Clerk/Deputy Treasurer 

https://www.waterloowi.us/clerk-treasurer/pages/monthly-financial-statements


 

 

CITY OF WATERLOO SPECIAL FINANCE, INSURANCE & PERSONNEL COMMITTEE: MEETING MINUTES  
May 4, 2023 

[a digital recording of this meeting also serves as the official record] 
 

 
1. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL. Thomas called the meeting to order at 5:47 p.m. Members in person or remote: 

Kuhl, Thomas and Weihert Remote: none.  Absent: none Other attending in person or remote: Mayor Quimby,; 
Police Chief Sorenson; Treasurer Nelson; City Clerk Ritter.     
 

2. NEW BUSINESS 
 

a. Discussion of Civic Systems Training for City Hall Staff.  Motion [Weihert/Kuhl] to approve civics training not to 
exceed $5000. VOICE VOTE: Motion carried.   

    
 

 
3. ADJOURNMENT. MOTION: [Kuhl/Weihert] To adjourn. VOICE VOTE:  Motion carried. Approximate time 5:57 pm 

 
 
Jeanne Ritter 
Clerk/Deputy Treasurer 























Page 1 of 1  

HTTPS://WATERLOOWI.SHAREPOINT.COM/SITES/FILESHARES/DATA/common/resolutions/2023 resolutions/draft/2023-19 wire transfer policy for city of 
waterloo/#2023-19wire transfer policy for the city of waterloo.docx 
5/15/2023 4:22 PM 

 

                                           

                          136 North Monroe Street 
   Waterloo, WI 53594-1198 

      Phone:  (920) 478-3025 
Fax: (920) 478-2021  

            www.waterloowi.us 

______________________________________________________________________________              _ 
 

RESOLUTION #2023-19 
WIRE TRANSFER POLICY FOR THE CITY OF WATERLOO 

  
The Common Council of the City of Waterloo, Wisconsin does hereby resolve as follows: 
 
Whereas, the City of Waterloo… has made a new policy regarding wire transfers for all departments in the 
city; and 
 
Whereas, each department must follow said steps when considering a wire payment; and 
 
Whereas, the preferred method of payment is by check and the use of wire transfers will only be used in an 
emergency; 
 
Now, Therefore, Be It Resolved, that the Waterloo City Council, does hereby approve the Wire Transfer 
Policy for the City of Waterloo.  
 
Date: ______________ 
Vote: ______________ 

 
       City of Waterloo 
 

      Signed:  ______________________________________ 
                    Jenifer Quimby, Mayor 
 
Attest: 
 
_________________________________ 
Jeanne Ritter, Clerk/Deputy Treasurer 
 
SPONSOR(S) – _______ 

http://www.waterloowi.us/


136 North M onroe S treet
W aterloo, W I 53594

P hone: (920)47 8 -3025
Fax: (920)47 8 -2021
www. waterloowi. u s

__________________________________________________________________________________________

WIRE TRANSFER POLICY
(EXCLUDING WATERLOO UTILITIES)

WIRE FUND TRANSFERS:

•All wire transfer activity shall be the responsibility of the Treasurer/Deputy Clerk.
However, funds will not be released until the wire transfer is countersigned by the
Clerk/Deputy Treasurer. In the event the Clerk/Deputy Treasurer is unavailable the wire
transfer is to be countersigned by the Mayor or the City Council President.

•All wire transfers requests must be done by phone or fax from the vendor. No email
requests will be accepted under any circumstances.

•All wire transfers requests must be done by phone or fax from the vendor. No email
requests will be accepted under any circumstances.

•All wire transfers require a call back verification. The vendor must be called at the phone
number of record and wire instructions must be verified during the verification process.

•The Treasurer/Deputy Clerk shall be responsible for the review of all wire requests with the
Department Heads to ensure compliance.

•A wire transfer of funds shall only be utilized by the City of Waterloo when the situation
requires immediate funds to settle a transaction. The preferred method of payment is by
check and the use of wire transfers will only be used in an emergency situation.



Page 1 of 1  

HTTPS://WATERLOOWI.SHAREPOINT.COM/SITES/FILESHARES/DATA/common/resolutions/2023 resolutions/draft/2023-20 wire transfer policy for waterloo 
utilities/#2023-19wire transfer policy for the city of waterloo.docx 
5/15/2023 4:20 PM 

 

                                           

                          136 North Monroe Street 
   Waterloo, WI 53594-1198 

      Phone:  (920) 478-3025 
Fax: (920) 478-2021  

            www.waterloowi.us 

______________________________________________________________________________              _ 
 

RESOLUTION #2023-20 
WIRE TRANSFER POLICY FOR WATERLOO UTILITIES 

  
The Common Council of the City of Waterloo, Wisconsin does hereby resolve as follows: 
 
Whereas, the City of Waterloo… has made a new policy regarding wire transfers for Waterloo Utilities; and 
 
Whereas, Waterloo Utilities must follow said steps when considering a wire payment and 
 
Whereas, The preferred method of payment is by check and the use of wire transfers will only be used in 
an emergency ; 
 
Now, Therefore, Be It Resolved, that the Waterloo City Council, does hereby approve the Wire Transfer 
Policy for Waterloo Utilities.  
 
Date: ______________ 
Vote: ______________ 

 
       City of Waterloo 
 

      Signed:  ______________________________________ 
                    Jenifer Quimby, Mayor 
 
Attest: 
 
_________________________________ 
Jeanne Ritter, Clerk/Deputy Treasurer 
 
SPONSOR(S) – _______ 

http://www.waterloowi.us/


136 North M onroe S treet
W aterloo, W I 53594

P hone: (920)47 8 -3025
Fax: (920)47 8 -2021
www. waterloowi. u s

__________________________________________________________________________________________

WIRE TRANSFER POLICY
(WATERLOO UTILITIES)

WIRE FUND TRANSFERS:

•All wire transfer activity shall be the responsibility of the Waterloo Utilities Office Manager.
However, funds will not be released until the wire transfer is countersigned by the Waterloo
Utilities Superintendent. In the event the Waterloo Utilities Superintendent is unavailable
the wire transfer is to be countersigned by the Waterloo Utilities Board President, Mayor or
City Council President.

•All wire transfers requests must be done by phone or fax from the vendor. No email
requests will be accepted under any circumstances.

•All wire transfers requests must be done by phone or fax from the vendor. No email
requests will be accepted under any circumstances.

•All wire transfers require a call back verification. The vendor must be called at the phone
number of record and wire instructions must be verified during the verification process.

•The Waterloo Utilities Superintendent shall be responsible for the review of all wire
requests with the Waterloo Utilities Office Manager.

•A wire transfer of funds shall only be utilized by the Waterloo Utilities when the situation
requires immediate funds to settle a transaction. The preferred method of payment is by
check and the use of wire transfers will only be used in an emergency situation.















                 

                          136 North Monroe Street  
Waterloo, WI  53594 

      Phone: (920) 478-3025 
      Fax: (920) 478-2021 

      www.waterloowi.us 

 

__________________________________________________________________________________________ 
RESOLUTION #2023-21 

2022 Financial Carry-Over Approvals 
 

Whereas, the following chart defines the line item categories proposed for 2022-2023 carry over designation by the 
Clerk/Treasurer’s office, with minor residual debit modifications expected to account for remaining 2022 invoices received in 
2023. 

 
 
Therefore Be It Resolved, by the Common Council of the City of Waterloo, Wisconsin, that it hereby authorizes the 2022-
2023 carry over amounts as stated with final amounts to include any residential debits for accounts listed which have may have 
remaining 2022 invoices, received in 2023, after resolution adoption. 
 
PASSED AND ADOPTED this ____________, 2023. 
 
City of Waterloo 
        Signed:  
  
        _______________________________ 
        Mayor Jenifer Quimby 
 
Attest: 
 
__________________________Jeanne Ritter, City Clerk  

http://www.waterloowi.us/






































POLICY AND PROCEDURE MANUAL WFD 

 

1  

 

 

 

 

WATERLOO FIRE AND RESCUE 
 

 

POLICY & PROCEDURE MANUAL 

 

 

 

Adopted: January 1, 2015 

Updated 1/16, 1/18, 6/18, 2/21, 12/21, 12/22, 5/23 

 



POLICY AND PROCEDURE MANUAL WFD 

 

2  

 

Waterloo Fire and Rescue 

Policy & Procedure Manual 
 

ARTICLE I  

FOREWORD 

Waterloo Fire and Rescue, of Waterloo Wisconsin, consist of the active membership of Fire and/or 
EMS and are referred to as members, employees or as The Department throughout this manual.  
Most members are volunteers; however, members are employed through the City of Waterloo for 
the Fire & Rescue Department either as fulltime, part time, or paid on call volunteers. 

 

DISCLAIMER 

Emergency Services operations are intrinsically hazardous to member’s life and health and 
recognizing that such operations must exist to provide the protection of life and property to citizens; 
personnel of this organization will adhere to the policies and procedures to address day to day 
actions, conduct and operations.  These guidelines serve as the basis for operational policy and 
discipline. Waterloo Fire & Rescue cannot guarantee that adherence to the Policy & Procedure 
Manual alone will result in a reduction of occupational injuries, illness, or exposures.   

 

PREFACE 

The following Policy & Procedure Manual was developed to guide members of the Waterloo Fire & 
Rescue Department in the performance of their duties, on and off the incident scene.  They are 
based on the requirements set forth by appropriate federal, state, and local regulations and by our 
Officers. This document will assist in ensuring that members display appropriate behavior and 
customer service to not only to community members, but also other members of various emergency 
services organizations. 

All department members are required to sign a statement documenting they have read a copy of 
the Policy and Procedure Manual, know where to locate a copy, and understand the contents. 

 

SAFETY GOAL 

The safety goal of the department is to provide and operate under the highest possible levels of 
safety for all members.  The prevention of accidents, injury exposures and occupational illnesses 
are the goals of the department and shall be the primary consideration at all times.  The concern for 
safety and health applies to all members of the department and any other persons who may be 
involved in department functions. 

 

 



POLICY AND PROCEDURE MANUAL WFD 

 

3  

 

ARTICLE II 

INTRODUCTION AND PURPOSE 

Presented on the following pages are the Policy and Procedure Manual for Waterloo Fire and 
Rescue.  They are to be used as a reference pertaining to department procedures and regulations 
and to establish behavioral guidelines.  The Policy & Procedure Manual is intended to assist 
members to accomplish the mission, commitment, and values of this department: 

Our Mission statement: Caring Professionals Protecting Their Community 

Our Commitment: We are dedicated to preserving life, property, and the environment, 
utilizing effective principles and practices of modern fire and life safety technology. 

We adhere to the following Values: 

• Respect:   We practice mutual respect by setting a personal example of trust and 
fairness, recognizing the dignity of others. 

• Integrity:  We expect honesty, loyalty, and dedication. 

• Accountability:  We are responsible, as professionals for our actions. 

• Teamwork:   We believe in teamwork through skillful communications and personal 
cooperation to achieve our goal of satisfying our customers, both internal and 
external. 

• Service:  We strive for excellence in the service we deliver through on-going 
evaluation and continual improvement. 

 

It must be stressed that under all circumstances, good judgment must prevail.  Emergency 
response situations are so varied; specific rules and regulations cannot always be followed in the 
strictest sense and may need to be altered according to the incident.  The guidelines should be 
used as a tool to inform members of the direction their decisions and actions should follow. 

 

The members of the Waterloo Fire & Rescue Department are a diverse group joined together in a 
common cause, providing a valued and outstanding service to the Waterloo community and 
surrounding area.  Keep in mind, every member’s personal conduct and behavior reflects on the 
department as a whole.  It takes only one thoughtless, careless, or selfish act to destroy the 
excellent reputation established through many years of dedication and hard work.  Each of us is 
ultimately responsible for our decisions. 

 

The Policy & Procedure Manual is provided to all department members and employees to assist in 
understanding employment conditions, create an environment of stability and trust, promote the 
smooth and effective operation of the department, and serve as a convenient reference guide and 
to ensure a high standard of conduct and ethics.   

 

 



POLICY AND PROCEDURE MANUAL WFD 

 

4  

 

Each member is expected to read and be familiar with the information contained in the Policy and 
Procedure Manual.  Most employment questions should be answered in the Policy and Procedure 
Manual.  Specific questions regarding issues not covered or interpretations should be directed to 
the Fire Chief, the Assistant Chief, or their designee.    

 

While the Policy & Procedure Manual was prepared for informational purposes and every effort has 
been made to make it as complete as possible, none of the statements, policies, procedures, rules, 
or regulations contained herein constitute a guarantee of employment, a guarantee of any other 
right or benefit, or a contract of employment, express or implied.  Department employees and 
members are employed “at-will,” and employment is not for any definite period.  

  

The provisions set forth in this Policy & Procedure Manual may be altered, modified, changed, or 
eliminated at any time by the Fire Chief, with the recommendations of the officers, with or without 
notice, depending on conditions present at the time of the change.  This Policy & Procedure Manual 
supersedes any and all previous handbooks, statements, policies, procedures, rules or regulations 
given to members, whether verbal or written. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



POLICY AND PROCEDURE MANUAL WFD 

 

5  

 

                                    Table of Contents                              

Article I      Foreword, Disclaimer, Preface, Safety Goal,  Page 2 
 
Article II Introduction & Purpose    Page 3-4 
 
Article III Employment Policies 
3.1   At-will Employment     Page 9 
3.2   Equal Employment Opportunity   Page 9 
3.3  Proof of US Citizenship and/or Right to Work Page 9 
3.4  Aptitude and Ability Tests    Page 9 
3.5  Driver’s License and Driving Record   Page 9 
3.6  Standards of Conduct     Page 9 
3.7       Substance Abuse     Page 9-10 
3.8  Exposure to Confidential Information   Page 10 
3.9  Knox-box Keys and use    Page 10 
 
Article IV Employment Status, Records and Reviews                                                                                
4.1  Chain of Authority and Management   Page 12 
4.2  Job Descriptions     Page 12 
4.3  Fulltime Employee Probationary Period  Page 12 
4.4  Personnel File      Page 12-13 
4.5  Personal Data Change    Page 13 
4.6  Performance Review      Page 13 
4.7  Department Issued equipment/belongings  Page 13 
 
Article V Members Benefits/Privileges  
5.1  Worker’s Compensation/ Accident reports  Page 15 
5.2   Clothing Allowance     Page 15 
5.3  Training and Education    Page 15 
5.3.1  Training Requested by Chief Officer   Page 15 
5.3.2  Voluntary Training      Page 15-16 
5.3.3  Expectation of Completion and Commitment  Page 16 
5.3.4  Licensure & Certification Requirement  Page 16 
5.3.4A  CPR Requirements     Page 16 
5.3.4B  ICS Requirements     Page 16 
5.3.4C  EMR Requirements     Page 16 
5.3.4D  Firefighter Requirements    Page 16 
5.4  Requirements for Voting    Page 16 
5.5  Expense Reimbursements    Page 17 
5.6  Leave of Absence     Page 17 
5.7  When you Resign      Page 17 
5.8  Military Leave      Page 17-18 
5.9  Privileges Enjoyed by Members   Page 18 
 
Article VI  Working Conditions/Expectations  
6.1  Drug and Alcohol testing    Page 20 
6.2  Safety       Page 20 
6.3  Pagers and Radios     Page 20 
6.4  Department Property & Equipment   Page 20 
6.5  Department Vehicles     Page 20 
6.6   Department Apparatus Driver Requirements  Page 20-21 
6.7  Personal Property     Page 21 
6.8  Smoking      Page 21 



POLICY AND PROCEDURE MANUAL WFD 

 

6  

 

6.9  Solicitations and Distributions    Page 21 
6.10  Dress Code/Personal Appearance   Page 21 
6.11  Residency and Response    Page 21 
6.12  Staying overnight     Page 21 
6.13  TEAMWORK      Page 21-22 
6.14  Trainings and Meetings    Page 22 
6.15  Elections of Officers and Officer Requirements Page 22  
6.16  Elected Position Requirements   Page 22 
6.17  Job Titles and Duties     Page 22 
6.18  Job Descriptions and Duties    Page 22                                                                                    
 
Article VII Standards of Conduct    
7.1  Code of Ethics      Page 24 
7.2  Expectations      Page 24 
7.2.1   Training/meeting     Page 24 
7.2.2  Missed Training     Page 24 
7.2.3  Make-up Training     Page 24 
7.2.4  Inactive Member     Page 25 
7.2.5  Truck Starting      Page 25 
7.2.6  EMS Scheduling      Page 25 
7.2.7  Phone requirement     Page 25 
7.2.8  Suppression requirement    Page 25 
7.2.9  Emergency call commitment    Page 26 
7.2.10  Response with Apparatus or POV   Page 26 
7.2.11   Hazards or Courtesy Lights    Page 26 
7.2.12   I AM RESPONDING     Page 26 
7.2.13  Secure Property      Page 26 
7.3  Political Activity      Page 26 
7.4  Use of Public Property    Page 26-27 
7.5  Technology Policy     Page 27-28 
7.6  Harassment Policy     Page 28-29 
7.7  Unacceptable Activities    Page 29-31 
7.8  Sanctions      Page 31 
7.9  Disciplinary Actions     Page 31-32 
7.10   Advisory Opinion and Summary Opinion  Page 32 
7.11  Dismissal      Page 32 
7.12  Grievance Procedure     Page 32 
      
Article VIII Drug-Free Workplace and Drug Testing Policies Page 34-35    
 
Appendices:     
Appendix A Resignation/Inactive Form    Page 37 
Appendix B-1 Infectious Exposure Form    Page 38 
Appendix B-2 Infection Control Supervisor Report   Page 39 
Appendix C-1 Work Injury Form     Page 40 
Appendix C-2 Work Injury Supervisor Report   Page 41 
Appendix D  Request for Leave of Absence Form   Page 42 
Appendix E Acknowledgement of Courtesy Dash light form Page 43 
Appendix F-1 Sexual Harassment Form    Page 44 
Appendix F-2 Sexual Harassment Witness Form   Page 45 
Appendix G Complaint Form     Page 46 
Appendix H-1  Formal Member Grievance Form   Page 47 
Appendix H-2  Grievance Findings Form    Page 48 
Appendix I  Chain of Authority     Page 49 



POLICY AND PROCEDURE MANUAL WFD 

 

7  

 

Appendix J Training Request for Approval   Page 50 
Appendix K-1  Job Titles & Duties – Chief    Page 51 
Appendix K-2 Job Titles & Duties – Assistant Chief   Page 52 
Appendix K-3 Job Titles & Duties – Captains   Page 53 
Appendix K-4 Job Titles & Duties – Lieutenants,  
 Public Information Officer, EMS Assistant Service Director Page 54 
Appendix K-5  Job Titles & Duties – EMS Training Coordinator 
 Secretary       Page 55 
Appendix L-1  Job Descriptions & Duties – Fulltime Firefighter/AEMT 
 Operator       Page 56 
Appendix L-2 Job Descriptions & Duties – Firefighter, AEMT Page 57 
Appendix L-3 Job Descriptions & Duties – EMT, EMS Driver EMR Page 58 
Appendix M Members Pay Scale     Page 59 
Appendix N  Supplemental Training Form    Page 60 
Appendix O Excuse Form      Page 61 
Appendix N Acknowledgment of Policy and Procedure Manual  
    Signature Page   Page 62    
            

          

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



POLICY AND PROCEDURE MANUAL WFD 

 

8  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

EMPLOYMENT POLICIES 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



POLICY AND PROCEDURE MANUAL WFD 

 

9  

 

ARTICLE III 

3.1) At-Will Employment 
All employment and compensation with this department is "at will" and can be terminated at any 
time with or without cause, and with approval of the Fire Chief, or the member, except as otherwise 
provided by law. 

3.2) Equal Employment Opportunity 
It is the Department's policy that applicants for employment are recruited, selected and hired on the 
basis of individual merit and ability with respect to positions being filled.  An integral part of this 
policy is to provide equal employment opportunity for all persons. 

The Department will administer hiring, working conditions, benefits, compensation practices, 
training, employment functions (including but not limited to promotion, demotion, transfer, dismissal, 
and reduction in force) without regard to race, color, religion, national origin, political belief, gender, 
age, disability, marital status, sexual orientation, or any other basis prohibited by State and Federal 
laws. 

All applicants will be reviewed and interviewed by the applications committee; the application 
committee will forward their recommendations to the chief officers for their regular monthly officers 
meeting.  An official from the application committee notifies the applicant of the status for 
membership. 

3.3) Proof Of U.S. Citizenship and/or Right To Work 
Federal regulations require prior to employment all applicants must complete and sign federal form 
I9, employment eligibility verification form, and all applicants hired must present documents of 
identity and eligibility to work in the U.S. 

3.4) Aptitude and Ability Tests 
Job related tests may be given to help determine aptitude or ability to perform a specific job.  Such 
tests may be given to candidates for job changes and promotions, as well as to new applicants.  
Test results will be confidential. 

3.5) Driver's License and Driving Record 
Members must present and maintain a valid driver's license and an acceptable driving record.  
Failure to maintain a valid driver’s license may result in dismissal.  Members must immediately 
report any changes to his or her driving record, including all tickets, driving convictions, operating 
under the influence charges received either on the job or off the job, to the Chief or the Assistant 
Chief.  Failure to do so may result in disciplinary action, including possible dismissal.  In addition, 
the department reserves the right to check all Motor Vehicle Records of its members on a regular 
basis to ensure that acceptable driving records are maintained. 

3.6) Standards of Conduct 
To ensure high standards of ethical conduct, the department has adopted a "Standards of Conduct" 
policy. 

See "Standards of Conduct" Article 7 section of this Policy & Procedure Manual for a full 
description.  

3.7) Substance Abuse  
The department is committed to maintaining a safe, healthy, and productive workplace.  For this 
reason, the department does not permit its members to possess, consume or distribute drugs of 
abuse or alcohol within its facilities. Members will not report to work, or an emergency, or perform 
their duties while impaired by alcohol or drugs.  

 



POLICY AND PROCEDURE MANUAL WFD 

 

10  

 

3.7 Substance Abuse Cont.  
See department “Drug and Alcohol Policy” Article 8 for a full description.   Violation will result in 
disciplinary actions up to and including discharge. 

All final job offers will be contingent upon successfully passing a controlled substance test.  A 
positive result will disqualify the candidate from further consideration for the vacancy or eligibility 
list.  

There is an exception to alcohol consumption on premise during Department sanctioned functions.  
However, the rule that you may not report to work, or an emergency, while impaired still is in effect. 

3.8) Exposure to Confidential Information 
Residents and businesses entrust the department with important information relating to their health, 
property, and businesses.  Department officers and members must assume an obligation to 
maintain confidentiality both during and after employment. 
 
Officers and members are not permitted to discuss the confidential business of the department with 
anyone not employed by the department.  If any person inquirers about confidential department 
business, the inquiry should be immediately referred to the Chief Officers of the department. 
Officers and members are not permitted to remove or make copies of any department records, 
reports or documents without prior approval of the Fire Chief.  If an officer or member is asked to 
provide such a record, he or she should direct the party requesting the record to the office of the 
Fire Chief.  
 
Because even casual remarks can be misinterpreted and repeated, members must develop the 
personal discipline necessary to maintain confidentiality, this includes the use of social media either 
in text or in photos.  Due to its seriousness, disclosure of confidential information could lead to 
disciplinary action, including dismissal.  
 
All members will have annual HIPAA training and will sign a HIPAA form prior to employment.  
Violations of the HIPAA agreement could lead to disciplinary action up to and including dismissal. 
 
3.9) Knox Box Keys and Use 
Knox Box Keys will only be used in emergency situations. No personnel should use these keys to allow an 
occupant into their building or residence.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 



POLICY AND PROCEDURE MANUAL WFD 

 

11  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

EMPLOYMENT STATUS, RECORDS AND REVIEWS 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



POLICY AND PROCEDURE MANUAL WFD 

 

12  

 

ARTICLE IV 

 
4.1) Chain of Authority and Management  
The Chief of the Department is responsible to the mayor for the proper administration and operation 
of the Department, for the discipline of its members and generally for the efficient operation of the 
Department. The Fire Chief and the Assistant Chief are responsible for the direct supervision of the 
members and fulltime employees of The Department.   

The chief officers as a whole, with the recommendations from the officer staff, are responsible for 
setting forth the policies and enforcing the discipline which affect the members and fulltime 
employees. See Appendix I for flow chart. Fulltime employees must also follow and reference the 
City of Waterloo’s Employee Handbook.   

Fulltime employees are responsible for their day-to-day activities of the fire station. Fulltime 
employees often assist members but are not the direct supervisors of members.  Fulltime 
employees, who are not in an officer position, may assume command at emergency scenes when 
no other officers are present, as C5 or C6. 

4.2) Job Descriptions  (Reference Appendix L) 
Job descriptions are used to define the primary duties and responsibilities of each position but 
should not be interpreted as all-inclusive.  Other tasks and projects may be assigned at the 
discretion of the Fire Chief.   Job descriptions provide the basis for performance expectations and 
are used as a guide in selection, placement, and promotion decisions.  When the responsibilities of 
a position change, the job description for such position will be updated by the Fire Chief.  Members 
may request a current job description from the Fire Chief. 

4.3) Fulltime Employee Probationary Period (Members reference bylaws) 

The first twelve (12) months of employment with the Department are considered a probationary 
period.  For all new employees during their probationary period employee job skills will be evaluated 
about every ninety (90) days by an Asst. Chief or designated officer.  If during this period, 
employees work habits, attitude, attendance or performance do not meet department standards, 
employment can be terminated immediately with or without cause or hearing. 

At the end of the probationary period employees undergo a performance review with the Chief or 
Asst. Chief.  This review will be similar to the job performance review that is held for fulltime 
employees on an annual basis.  Employees are encouraged to communicate comments and ideas 
with the officers during performance reviews. 

At the next regular meeting, after your probationary period has ended, your name will be put forth to 
the membership for confirmation.  Upon confirmation your name will be forwarded to the Waterloo 
City Council.  

4.4) Personnel File 
The confidentiality of information contained in a member’s personnel file will be maintained except 
as prohibited by State Laws related to public records.  The department will maintain one original of 
all personnel files as the official copy in a locked, secure place.  The Fire Chief is custodian of the 
personnel files.  Chief Officers may access personnel files to ensure the files are updated, current 
and complete.  An approved list of those personnel authorized access to employment records will 
be maintained by the Fire Chief. The Officers may have access to prior performance evaluations, or 
related member history, during the members annual performance review period.  A member may 
request inspection of his/her personnel file as directed in §§ 103.13, Wis. Stats.  The Fire Chief will 
respond to such requests within seven (7) working days.  Removal or correction of disputed 
material in a member’s personnel file may be done by mutual agreement of the Fire Chief and the  

 
 
 



POLICY AND PROCEDURE MANUAL WFD 

 

13  

 

4.4) Personal File Cont.  
member.  Items in a member’s personnel file may contain but are not limited to the following:  
employment application, performance appraisals, insurance enrollment forms, payroll 
documentation, work history, resume, commendations, disciplinary actions, educational and training 
documents, certifications, job-related tests, bonding, driver’s license information, health exams and 
drug/alcohol testing results. Files will be updated yearly.  

    
4.5) When your Personal Data Changes 
Members should report any changes in name, address, phone number (land line or cell number), e-
mail address, cell phone carrier, marital/dependent status or withholding information to the Fire 
Chief, the Fulltime Staff and City Hall within 10 days of the change.  
   
4.6) Performance Review 
The department will provide members with an annual appraisal of their individual performance.  
Reviews will focus on members overall performance, based on the duties and responsibilities 
assigned to his/her position, since the previous appraisal. 
 
The goal of the appraisal is to foster superior work performance by providing clear expectations and 
objective feedback about a members’ performance relative to these expectations.  Members will be 
reviewed by the Fire Chief or another Officer as assigned by the Fire Chief. 
 
When completed, the original signed performance review shall be placed in the member’s file.  The 
member evaluated may have a copy of the entire evaluation.   
 
Periodically, the Fire Chief, or their designee, will review job descriptions to include any changes in 
the responsibilities of each position.   
 
   Performance Review Schedule 
Performance reviews may be conducted at any time if warranted by a significant change, either 
positive or negative, in an employee's/member’s performance. 

New employees/members will be reviewed about every ninety (90) days during the twelve (12) 
month probationary period. 

A private conference between the evaluator and the employee/member shall be held no later than 
two weeks following the assigned date to discuss the review. 

The members/employee will be allowed to respond in writing to his or her review.  Such a response 
will be filed with the review in the employee’s personnel file. 

4.7) Department Issued equipment/belongings 
When your employment begins you will be issued Department equipment.  It is your responsibility to 
keep and maintain this equipment in clean working order.  An itemized list of issued equipment, 
along with replacement cost, will be maintained in your personnel file.  You will need to return this 
equipment when you are no longer a member or if you take an extended leave.  Failure to return 
the equipment or returning misused, vandalized, damaged (intentionally or accidently) may result in 
your paying for it. 

 

 

 

 



POLICY AND PROCEDURE MANUAL WFD 

 

14  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS / PRIVILEGES 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



POLICY AND PROCEDURE MANUAL WFD 

 

15  

 

ARTICLE V 

5.1) Worker’s Compensation- Accident Reports 
A member who sustains illness or injury as a result of his or her job duties must immediately report 
the condition or incident to the officer in charge and the Fire Chief. If medical help is required 
beyond that available at the site, the member will be sent or transported to an appropriate medical 
facility for treatment.  

A member who sustains an illness or injury while performing within the scope of his/her employment 
may continue to receive an amount equal to the difference of his/her regular net pay and his/her 
workers compensation payments for the period of time of the injury. 

Accident reports must be filled out and submitted to the Fire Chief and City Hall within 24 hours of 
all workers’ compensation illness or injury occurrences. (Accident Reports - Reference Appendix C 
and/or fire bulletin board in meeting room) 

If you experienced a needle stick or sharps injury or were exposed to the blood or other body fluid 
of a patient during the course of your work, wash needle sticks or cuts with soap and water, report 
the incident to the crew chief or EMT on scene, stay at the receiving hospital and fill out an 
infectious exposure report. (Reference Appendix B, fire bulletin board, or filing drawer in 
ambulance) 
 
5.2) Clothing Allowance 
Currently members do not receive a clothing stipend. (Reference Bylaws Article 2 Section 6)  

Fulltime clothing allowance refer to City Handbook. 

The Department will provide all protective clothing to enable members to properly perform their 
jobs, and to meet the requirement of applicable NFPA and OSHA regulations.   
 
5.3) Training & Education Opportunities (course agreement 6.3.3 and initial and signed off 
Appendix N) 
Members are encouraged to utilize training and education opportunities to improve job skills and 
qualify for advancement.  These benefits are limited to training and education relevant to a 
member’s current position or “reasonable” advancement opportunities within our department. 

5.3.1) Training Requested by Department Head 
The Fire Chief may require a member to enroll in certain training courses, conferences or classes 
directly related to the member’s job duties.   
  
Fulltime employees will be paid at the regular pay rate for attendance at required training events. 
Fulltime employees pay will be governed be the city’s handbook on employment mileage during the 
training and will be reimbursed at rates set forth by the city. 
 
When attendance is authorized in response to a fulltime employee request, the employee shall not 
be compensated at his or her regular rate of pay and shall receive no overtime compensation for 
extra hours incurred by his or her attendance at such training. But will receive mileage pay and 
$40.00 per day for a full day class. 
 
5.3.2) Voluntary Training  
A member who wishes to attend conferences, classes, courses or programs at accredited colleges, 
universities, technical or business schools should submit written request to the Fire Chief at least 30 
days prior to registration.  (Reference Training request form Appendix J) 
 



POLICY AND PROCEDURE MANUAL WFD 

 

16  

 

5.3.2 Voluntary Training Cont.  
If such a request is approved, the department will reimburse the cost of all registration, tuition, 
textbook and materials to the member upon satisfactory completion of the approved course or 
program.  Successful completion shall be considered a grade of “C” or better or “passing” where no 
letter grade is assigned.  Members are prohibited from receiving double funding for education, (i.e., 
reimbursement from the department and a scholarship or grant).  The member will be required to 
sign a statement verifying the department is the sole source of funding for the approved course or 
program.  When the cost for such a class would put undue burden on the member and would 
discourage advancement of training, members are encouraged to speak with the Chief or Assistant 
Chief and other arrangements may be made. 

Training and education benefits are available on a first-come, first-serve basis, subject to the 
availability of budgeted funds.  Members must submit a copy of a transcript or report card and 
receipts for costs to be reimbursed to the Fire Chief.   

5.3.3) Expectation of completion and commitment 
When the department invest financially in your education, it is required to successfully complete the 
course and is expected that you serve a two-year commitment and be a member in good standing 
in that area of study. The commitment starts upon successful completion of the course or you will 
be required to repay the department. (Reference Bylaws for member in good standing) 
 
Each time the Department pays for your license, certification, education or you attend a training or 
class it is not only for your benefit but also for the benefit of the Department.  You are expected to 
bring back knowledge and or skills learned and are able to reiterate or educate the other 
Department members in some way. 
 
5.3.4) Licenses & Certifications Minimum Requirements 
The department will pay all costs for classes and credits required to obtain and maintain all 
necessary licenses and certifications, for active members in good standing, that are required to 
perform job duties set forth by the department. When any member fails to stay in good standing 
(Reference Bylaws), they forfeit the privilege of having extra trainings, conferences, and 
certification/license renewals. 
 

5.3.4A) CPR Training 
All members will hold a valid CPR card at all times and will re-certify with American Heart at the 
station. 

5.3.4B) ICS Training 
Members are expected to complete NIMS 100, 200, and 700 certifications.  

 5.3.4C) EMS Training 
Ambulance drivers will hold an EMR and maintain a license. 
 

5.3.4D) Firefighter Training  
Fire members will take entry level the first year, will take and become certified Firefighter I the next 
year, and will have four years to be certified Firefighter II. Fire members not interested in holding an 
EMR will go through an American Heart First Aid course.  

5.3.4  
Failure to maintain required certification to perform job duties set forth will be grounds for 
disciplinary action up to and including dismissal.   
 
5.4) Requirements for Voting  
Reference Waterloo Fire & Rescue Bylaws Article (6) Section (5.1) 
 



POLICY AND PROCEDURE MANUAL WFD 

 

17  

 

5.5). Expense Reimbursements 
Fire Chief’s authorization is required prior to incurring an expense on behalf of the Department.   
Pre-approved expenses incurred by a member for department related business, seminars or 
classes will be reimbursed only with proper proof of expense including a receipt or invoice.  
Reimbursements will be issued to members by City Hall. 

Mileage for attendance at training or conferences required by the department or other department 
business using member’s personal vehicle will be reimbursed at the standard IRS rate for mileage.  
Before using your personal vehicle check to see if C85 or C86 is available. 

When an ANY member fails to stay in good standing, they forfeit the privilege of having extra 
trainings, conferences, and certification/license renewals (including hotel, mileage, and meals) paid 
for by the Department.  Members on a leave of absence will have their situation reviewed on a 
case-by-case basis; a promise of returning and continuing to be an active member in good standing 
would be expected. 

5.6). Leave Of Absence 
Members who have passed their probationary period will be eligible for a leave of absence.  
Medical leave, family leave and other leave will be granted on a case-by-case basis as approved by 
the Fire Chief.  Fill out leave of absence form turn into Fire Chief and include the proposed return 
date, not to exceed one year. (Reference Leave of Absence form Appendix D) 

Members who become pregnant may immediately start their leave of absence and continue on 
through the birth of the child until a reasonable time after birth.  Members must simply state in 
writing their desire to take the leave of absence and their proposed return date. 

Members, who are requesting a leave of absence along the federal guidelines of Family & Medical 
Leave Act (FMLA), may immediately start their leave of absence and continue on through the 
completion of the requirement for the leave.  Members must simply state in writing their desire to 
take the leave of absence and their proposed return date. 

All written requests must be submitted to the Fire Chief for approval and placed in the member’s 
personnel file.  During the time of the Leave of Absence, the member may be required to return all 
department issued items for the duration of the leave. Any member can attend monthly trainings 
following any restrictions per physician.  

Members will not receive benefits or accrue length of service time during leaves of absence.   

5.7). When You Decide to Resign 
As life changes, and you are no longer able to give you full attention to the Department, you may at 
any time terminate/retire as member of Waterloo Fire and Rescue.  We ask you to let us know in 
writing and return your department issued items. (Resignation/inactive form in Appendix A) If it is 
convenient, we would encourage an exit interview. Failure to return department issued equipment 
will result in an invoice from the department billing company.   
 
5.8). Military Leave Pay/Military Leave Benefits (Userra) 
A leave of absence without pay shall be granted to any member who is drafted, enlists or is called 
to duty in the armed forces of our country.  Re-employment rights of such members shall be 
governed by Section 45.50, Wisconsin Statutes.   
 
Prior to taking Military Leave for Deployment member will return all issued equipment.  
 
Members who are part of the National Guard or United States Military Reserve shall be granted 
temporary leave of absence for required hours of duty or training.   
 



POLICY AND PROCEDURE MANUAL WFD 

 

18  

 

5.8). Military Leave Pay/Military Leave Benefits (Userra) Cont. 
Except for emergency call out by the President of the United States or Governor of the State of 
Wisconsin, a member must provide at least two weeks prior notice in order to receive the approved 
leave of absence.  
 
A member’s job is protected for five (5) years of absence due to military service.  If a member on 
military leave is required to make contributions to the retirement plan, he/she must continue to do 
so. 
 
When the member returns to work, it must be to the same or corresponding position.  If upon 
his/her return the member is no longer qualified for the position, the employer must make 
reasonable accommodations to “qualify” the member.   
 
5.9) Privileges Enjoyed by Members 
When the Standards of Conduct, Technology Policy is followed: 

Members may use the member’s computer and the internet  

When the Use of Public Property Policy is followed: 

Members may use the extractor washer and commercial dryer, at their own risk, for their personal 
laundry. 

Members may use and have access to the weight/exercise area any time.  Your direct family 
members may use the weight room with you after they sign the liability waver in the radio room. 

Members have use of the Ready Room and the TV 

Members have use of the Kitchen 

Members may hold social/family events at the fire station, with the authorization of the Fire Chief 

Members may use the vehicle washing equipment to wash their personal vehicles 

Members may use department tools or station to work on their personal vehicles on site 

Members may barrow and use department equipment/items that would not compromise any 
emergency situation. Items must be checked out; and should be returned in a timely manner. 

All privileges are subject to other limitations set forth in this manual, proper use of equipment and 
cleaning up is expected.  Privileges may be revoked at the discretion of the Fire Chief. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



POLICY AND PROCEDURE MANUAL WFD 

 

19  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

WORKING CONDITIONS/EXPECTATIONS 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

  

 

 

 



POLICY AND PROCEDURE MANUAL WFD 

 

20  

 

ARTICLE VI 

6.1). Drug & Alcohol Testing 
Members must adhere to the guidelines specified in the department’s Drug Free Workplace Policy.  
All members shall be tested prior to final job offer, and potentially before the start of the first 
scheduled employment day and randomly anytime thereafter. 

See “Drug Free Workplace and Drug Testing Policies” Article VIII 

6.2). Safety 
Safety on the job is a vital responsibility of all members.  Always be alert to unsafe conditions, faulty 
equipment, or other on the job hazards.  Members must use safety equipment when required.  
Members are responsible for reporting unsafe conditions or accidents to the Fire Chief, complying 
with any laws or safety codes, and maintaining concern for the safety of coworkers.  Failure to use 
proper safety equipment or follow safety instructions may result in disciplinary action. 

6.3). Pagers and Radios 
Department-issued pagers are to be carried by all members.  Pagers are issued to permit members 
to respond to emergencies when needed.  It is imperative that all staff maintain their pagers in 
working order and report problems to the officer in-charge of pagers. 
 
Radios are issued to Officers and certain other personnel.  Radios should be maintained in working 
order and problems reported to the radio officer. 
 
Pagers and radios are the property of the department and must be returned on demand. 
 
6.4). Department Property and equipment 
Good care of any department property, vehicles and equipment used during the course of 
employment, as well as the conservative use of supplies is required.   

If vehicles or equipment are not working properly or in any way appear unsafe, members are 
expected to notify the Fire Chief or appropriate officer immediately so repairs or adjustments can be 
made.  Under no circumstances should a member start or operate vehicles or equipment that are 
deemed unsafe, nor adjust or modify the safeguards provided. 

Failure to return any issued equipment or returning misused, vandalized, damaged (intentionally or 
accidently) may result in your being billed for it.  Electronic equipment you may be issued includes, 
but is not limited to:  pagers, radios, laptops and keys.  Other equipment may include, but is not 
limited to: EMS coats, protective gear of all sorts, ID badges and dress uniforms. 

6.5) Department Vehicles 
All members are expected to help maintain and keep department vehicles in a constant state of 
readiness.  

The operation of department vehicles and equipment is restricted to authorized individuals who 
have completed the appropriate EVOC course and have been checked out by the Fire Chief or 
designee.  Members may not operate a vehicle that they have not been checked out on.  

6.6) Department Apparatus Driver Requirements: 
Ambulance drivers will attend the department EVOC/CEVO course and drive the currently required 
hours on each ambulance before testing with the Chief or designee.  

To drive an engine, member must pass MPO, drive the currently required hours on each engine 
before testing out with the Chief or designee. 

To drive the Aerial, member must pass Aerial, and drive the currently required hours before testing 
out with the chief or designee.  



POLICY AND PROCEDURE MANUAL WFD 

 

21  

 

6.6) Department Apparatus Driver Requirements Cont.: 
To drive Squad 6, Brush Truck with and without trailer or Tenders member must attend the 
department EVOC/CEVO course and drive the currently required hours on for each apparatus 
before testing with Chief or designee. 

Department vehicles and equipment are to be used for official department business only.  
Unauthorized or personal use of department vehicles and equipment is in direct conflict with the 
Standards of Conduct Policy and may result in discipline or immediate dismissal. 

6.7) Personal Property 
The storage of any members’ personal property or equipment, other than in their locker, on 
Department property is strictly prohibited unless authorized by the Chief or Asst. Chief. 

The Chief or Asst. Chief should have the unanimous approval of the other officers if they wish to 
store personal property on Department grounds. 

6.8) Smoking 
The city is committed to providing a clean and safe work environment. Therefore, smoking is not 
permitted in any working areas or at any entrances to working areas. Members may only smoke at 
designated smoking areas during their regularly scheduled breaks and meal periods. Members may 
not take additional break time to smoke.  

6.9) Solicitations and Distributions 
Solicitation for any cause or distribution of literature of any kind is limited to health/safety, Fire/EMS 
or City of Waterloo events and must be approved by a Chief.  Such postings or solicitations must 
not cause disruptions, inconvenience, or interference with work of other members.  Persons not 
employed by the department are prohibited from posting literature on department bulletin boards or 
entrances. 

6.10) Dress Code/Personal Appearance 

Reference Waterloo Fire & Rescue Bylaws Article 2 Section 2 

6.11) Residency and Response Policy 
Fire members are to have an established residence in the city of Waterloo or as otherwise 
established by law, and in our fire district, prior to his or her hire date.  Exceptions will be at the 
chief’s discretion. EMS personnel who live beyond the city limits are required to be in the City of 
Waterloo, and be ready to respond, when they are on call. It is encouraged that you stay at the 
station.   

6.12) Staying at the Station overnight 
Members will be able to stay at the station overnight when on duty for EMS and outside the city 
limits.  No member will be allowed to stay at the station unless approved by the Chief or Asst. Chief. 
Member/employee personal that live out of town will be allowed to stay at the station overnight 
when it is their week to work.  Non- members will not be allowed to stay at the station overnight. 

6.13) TEAMWORK 
The department places high value on prompt and regular turnout to emergency calls.  Unnecessary 
pessimism and general lack of enthusiasm have a disruptive impact on department operations and 
fellow members and will not be tolerated. 

Your commitment to Waterloo Fire and Rescue makes regular attendance at Fire and EMS 
training/meetings mandatory and your ethical responsibility.  

 



POLICY AND PROCEDURE MANUAL WFD 

 

22  

 

6.13) TEAMWORK Cont.  
Commitment to the EMS call schedule has a direct effect on member performance.  Members have 
an obligation to fulfill shifts that they have scheduled themselves for in Aladtec.  Trade request can 
be made through Aladtec; however, members are responsible for the shift if the trade request has 
no response.  Communication with your crew, the full-time personnel and possibly the Chief, if 
appropriate, is vital to teamwork and will help to resolve scheduling conflicts. Not responding to an 
emergency during your assigned EMS shift will result in a disciplinary action up to and including 
immediate dismissal. 

Problems or help with Aladtec can be received by contacting an Aladtec administrator. 

6.14) Meetings/Trainings and Events 
Operators training are held the first Monday of each month and start at 6:00 PM. 

EMS training are held the second Monday of each month and start at 6:00 PM.  

Fire training are held the third Monday of each month and start at 6:00PM. 

Officer/Department meetings are held on the fourth Monday of each month and Officers start at 
5:30 PM and Department start at 7:00 PM. 

Special EMS/Fire trainings happen when there is a fifth Monday (4 times a year) at 6 PM 

Fire and EMS training/meetings are mandatory.  No member shall miss a department training or 
event without notifying training officer or designee in advance and making up the missed training or 
event.  

Approved excuses include work conflicts, illness or death in the family.  Training needs to be made 
up by the next training.  Notices will be sent out alerting you to your attendance requirements.  
Alternate fire training happens for members who work second shift. See Reference 7.2.3 for 
makeup training.  

Working at least the minimum required shifts at Department events is mandatory, unless excused 
by the Chief.  Nonparticipation at these events is considered a missed training and must be made 
up. 

Hose testing is a mandatory event and must be made up if you are unable to attend. 

Fire Department elections are held on the fourth Monday in January. 

6.15) Election of Officers 
The Election of Officers voted on by the membership of the Waterloo Fire & Rescue Department 
members per the Waterloo Fire & Rescue Bylaws Reference Article 7 section 5.  

6.16) Elected Position Requirements Reference Waterloo Fire & Rescue Bylaws Article 6 section 6. 

6.17) Job Titles and Duties Reference Appendix K 

6.18) Job Descriptions and Duties Reference Appendix L 

 

 

 



POLICY AND PROCEDURE MANUAL WFD 

 

23  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

        

STANDARDS OF CONDUCT 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



POLICY AND PROCEDURE MANUAL WFD 

 

24  

 

ARTICLE VII 

Code of Ethics and Expectations 

The proper operation of our department requires that we have in place a code of ethics and 
expectations that identifies in a clear manner the acceptable conduct of the Fire Department 
members. 

7.1). Code of Ethics 
Every member shall conduct him/herself in a manner which is in keeping with the good reputation, 
order, and discipline of the department. 

All members are governed under the direction of the Fire Chief.  If the Fire Chief is not present the 
authority goes to the Assistant Chief, if the two chief officers are not present authority goes to the 
Captains and Lieutenants if no officer is present the authority goes to the fulltime staff, then to a 
senior member.  

Every member shall distinctly understand that they are entirely under the direction of the officer in 
charge, or senior member, at the scene of any emergency, while on duty, at the station, at trainings, 
on parade or while acting as a member of the department in any manner.  All orders given by the 
person in charge must be immediately acted on and implicitly obeyed.  Only if the order places you 
under an unsafe working condition as per NFPA code 15 and SPS 330 may you disregard an order. 

No member will leave his/her duty without the permission of the officer in charge while at the 
emergency scene.  No member will leave trainings or while returning apparatus to readiness 
without the permission of the officer in charge. 

7.2) EXPECTATIONS 
 
7.2.1) Trainings 
Members are expected to come to all trainings/meetings that pertain to them. Members are 
expected to participate in other Department Activities as they come at request.  

7.2.2) Missing Training 
If a member knows they are going to miss a training/meeting, an excuse form should be filled out 
prior to the start of the meeting. The forms for excused absences are in the wall pocket in the radio 
room or reference Appendix O.  These forms shall be turned into the EMS Training Coordinator or 
the Fire Liaison.  Excused absences shall include working at their regular job, illness, illness in the 
family, family emergencies, planned family vacations or school. When a member has contacted the 
liaison for their absence or has filled out the excuse form prior to the training or meeting, they will be 
shown on the attendance sheet as absent but excused.  

7.2.3) Make-up Training 
Members who miss a regular monthly training for whatever reason will make-up that training with 
other, and if practical similar training, that is approved by Training Officers. Supplemental training 
forms can be found in the radio room or reference Appendix N. This make-up training may consist 
of either an extra drill or approved course work and will be completed prior to the next regular 
training/meeting. Members that are unable to attend training in house & make up training online 
shall conduct quarterly training at the station to prove competency.  

Failure to attend monthly training/meetings without and excused absence, or notification that you 
are too ill to attend, may result in a disciplinary action. 

 
 



POLICY AND PROCEDURE MANUAL WFD 

 

25  

 

 
7.2.4) Inactive member  
Any member who has not taken call, has not been at training, has not responded to an emergency 
within 6 months, and are not on a leave of absence, will be considered inactive and will be 
contacted by a chief officer to establish reason for absence and needed remediation. The chiefs 
and officers will review the members reason for absence and determine the status of that member. 

7.2.5) Truck Starting  
Members are expected to be on Truck Starting at least once a year.  Members are expected to fulfill 
their truck starting obligations weekly while they are assigned to truck starting duty.  The first 
member on the monthly truck starting list is to coordinate the cooking responsibilities for the 
meeting.  

7.2.6) EMS Hourly Obligation  
EMS members are recommended to take a minimum of 24 hours per month to meet the yearly 
requirement and required 8 hours of Holiday per calendar year, which could be part of the 24 hours 
for that month. Holiday hours will be from 0000 day of the holiday to 0000.  Every month hourly 
obligations will be reviewed; members who have not met their hourly obligation may be called, by 
the EMS Assistant Service Director or their designee, to discuss the situation.  Disciplinary actions 
may apply. 

List of Holidays for the year. Holidays would be (1) New Year’s Day, (2) Good Friday,      
(3) Easter Day, (4) Memorial Day, (5) Independence Day, (6) Labor Day, (7) Veteran’s Day,           
(8) Thanksgiving Day, (9) Christmas Eve, (10) Christmas Day, (11) New Year’s Eve. 

It is each EMS members’ responsibility to have selected, in Aladtec, a minimum of 24 hours and no 
more before the first of each month to give equal chance to all EMS members. 

You may select more shifts after the Fire meeting (third Monday) to fill in the schedule. 

In an effort to help members schedule their required monthly hours the following applies: The first 
time a member makes an error and takes more than 24 hours before the third Monday of the month 
the member will be contacted and asked to erase extra hours until they are left with 24 hours.  If 
over scheduling happens a 2nd time the administrator will remove all of your hours and you will be 
blocked from scheduling until after the Fire meeting, but still will be required to have taken 24 hours 
in the month.  If a member over schedules a third time all the hours will be removed, and you will be 
blocked from scheduling until you have met with the EMS Assistant Service Director or designee.  
The officer will consider the consequences which may include an oral verbal reiteration on the 
importance of teamwork, re-education, an extension of probationary status, extra training on the 
use of Aladtec, a note of discipline in the members file and or dismissal. 

7.2.7) Working phone 
Every member will have and maintain a working telephone and will notify the chief within 24 hours 
of any changes to their telephone number. 

7.2.8) Suppression Member Requirement 
Every suppression member will be capable of donning, wearing, and operating a Self-Contained 
Breathing Apparatus (SCBA).  Suppression members will refrain from having facial hair that would 
interfere with the proper and safe wearing of the SCBA.   From time to time, and with the knowledge 
of the Officers, a member may not be capable of wearing the SCBA, in these circumstances the 
member will perform other duties at the fire scene.   



POLICY AND PROCEDURE MANUAL WFD 

 

26  

 

7.2.9) Emergency Commitment Every member who commits his/herself to an emergency is 
expected to perform all duties of their assigned role. After all emergency calls, training sessions or 
when otherwise requested it is required that all members assist in returning apparatus and 
equipment to a state of readiness.  Members will not leave, without permission and a valid reason, 
until the officer in charge dismisses you. 

7.2.10) Responding to Emergency 
Every member shall obey all State & Local Laws while on duty or while responding to emergencies 
with department apparatus or POV. All members will govern themselves so that they do not create 
a safety hazard to themselves, other firefighters, or EMS personnel, or to the public.  If a member 
disregards safety, they will be subject to discipline action up to and including removal from the 
department.   

7.2.11) Use of Courtesy light 
Use of flashers is a personal decision and does not give you the right of way.  Some citizens of 
Waterloo may understand that you are responding to an emergency call and may pull over for you, 
but they are under no obligation, nor do they necessarily understand your intentions. 

Use of Dash lights. Reference Ordinance 2022-06 Ordinance amending chapter 57.11 Fire Dept. 
Traffic Laws Apply to Volunteers.  
See Appendix E for acknowledgement agreement.  
  
7.2.12) IAR System 
We have implemented the “I Am Responding” program. Please use your cell phone so your name 
appears on the screen in the bay.  This will help the officers in charge understand who will be 
showing up or are available for second EMS calls. 

7.2.13) Secure Personal Property Any member who finds valuables at an emergency scene will 
notify the incident commander who will secure the valuables and take appropriate action with the 
proper authorities.  Weapons found at a scene will be secured in the gun box of the ambulance and 
deposited at the hospital. 

7.3). Political Activity  
The department urges members to vote regularly.  It is a duty and obligation as a citizen.  Members 
will not be discriminated in favor of or against because of political contribution, permitted political 
activity or neutrality.  Members may not solicit, be solicited nor receive political contributions or 
services on the job.  In addition, members may not engage in any form of political activity on the job 
or off the job to such an extent that it interferes with doing the job well, under penalty of disciplinary 
action. 

7.4). Use of Public Property 
Members are not permitted the unauthorized use of department owned vehicles for personal 
convenience or profit.   

Authorization for borrowing, using, or removing any department equipment comes from the direct 
expressed consent of the Fire Chief, or their designee, and is a Member Privilege.  Members must 
sign out equipment that is removed from the premises, on the equipment sign out log sheet located 
in the radio room, after receiving permission.  This includes equipment removed from the premises 
for classes. 

Members will be held responsible for any improper use or operation of department-owned vehicles, 
equipment, materials, or property that results in damage or destruction, willful or accidental. The 
department reserves the right to seek reimbursement for such damages, either in whole or in part, 
including garnishment of wages. Members will also face disciplinary action up to and including 
termination. 



POLICY AND PROCEDURE MANUAL WFD 

 

27  

 

Bulletin Boards  
Bulletin boards and white boards are the department’s official way of keeping everyone informed 
about new policies, changes in procedures, meetings, and special events.  Only authorized 
personnel are permitted to post, remove, or alter any notice on the bulletin board(s). 
    

Telephones and Cellular Phones  
Department telephones, and cellular phones in the apparatus, are provided for official department 
business only.  Contracts for telephone and cellular service will be negotiated by the Fire Chief.   

Department telephones and cellular phones are not to be used for personal business except in an 
emergency.  Any member abusing telephone or cellular phone privileges shall be subject to 
reimbursing the department for any toll charges and disciplinary action.  The department reserves 
the right to monitor member compliance with this policy through any means, including but not 
limited to, auditing of records reflecting use of telephones. 
 
To ensure safe handling and operation of department owned vehicles drivers may not receive 
phone calls or read text-messages while the vehicle is moving.  When placing a call, the driver is to 
pull over and be stopped.  This policy applies to the operator of the motor vehicle only. 
 
No member shall take any pictures/videos on their personal cell phones at any emergency scene.  
 
Any member who fails to comply with this policy will be subject to disciplinary action up to and 
including dismissal for any violation. 
 
7.5). Technology Policy 

Computer Software 
All new software installation must be approved by the Fire Chief.  No person shall knowingly or 
willfully download computer software not approved by the Fire Chief and not purchased by the 
department.  No person shall install any software that is illegally obtained or has already been 
installed on a personal computer or network. The department will also comply with federal copyright 
rules and regulations on the implementation and use of computer software. 

All data is department property and cannot be removed. 

No software or hardware may be temporarily or permanently loaded, or programming performed by 
any member or other person to any department computer or any part or component of the 
Information Technology system without the express knowledge and permission of the Fire Chief.    

Violation of this policy may include immediate dismissal. 

Computer / Internet/E-Mail / Social Media Use 
Personal internet usage on a department computer is allowed only on the ‘members’ computer in 
the meeting room.  When you are finished using the computer, please logoff.  Failure to do so could 
result in your account being disabled. 

Internet services are provided for department members to enhance their professional activities and 
as benefit to members who must stay at the station.  Internet access is a privilege, and the 
department encourages professional use. The Internet shall not be accessed for e-commerce, 
gambling, to conduct a business or for any personal or financial gain.  

 
 



POLICY AND PROCEDURE MANUAL WFD 

 

28  

 

Computer / Internet/E-Mail / Social Media Use Cont.  
A wide variety of information is available on the Internet, some uncensored and unrestricted. The 
department does not permit access at any time to materials that may be offensive or pornographic, 
nor is the department responsible for the content of any Internet site.   
 
Department e-mail accounts are provided as a business tool.  When accessing the Internet using 
department equipment and/or on department property, members shall limit all usage to job-related 
purposes.  The use of e-mail for any illegal, unethical activities or activity that could adversely affect 
the department is prohibited.  
 
All Internet and e-mail actions and communications shall be conducted in a manner consistent with 
the professional and courteous behavior expected of department members. Members shall not abuse 
computer use privilege. 
 
No person without specific authorization shall read, alter, or delete any other person’s computer files 
or email.  
 
The transfer of information via the Internet and e-mail is not always secure. The confidential nature 
of department information must be considered paramount.  Unsecure transmittal of confidential 
information via the Internet and e-mail is inappropriate and shall not be permitted.     
 
Internet use and communication by department members on department equipment is public and not 
confidential or private.  The department reserves the right to monitor Internet and e-mail activity by 
members without prior notification.  Members have no privacy with respect to their access or use of 
the Internet.  Under federal and state laws, e-mail and electronic files obtained via the Internet are 
public records and subject at all times to inspection by the public and management in the same 
manner that paper documents of a similar nature are preserved and made available.      
 
The safety and security of the department’s network and resources shall be considered paramount 
when using the Internet.  User passwords are confidential.  It is the user’s responsibility to maintain 
the confidentiality of their passwords.   
 
Any media information obtained by a member at a scene, (on your personal phone or department 
equipment) in the station or at training, whether in the form of photographs, video or audio 
recordings is the property of the Department and may not be distributed without the permission of 
the person(s) in the photo, video or recording and the Fire Chief.  This includes posting on 
Facebook, and similar accounts, or disseminating it through e-mail. 
 
Failure of a Member to adhere to and comply with these policies may result in disciplinary action up 
to and including discharge.    

7.6). Harassment Policy 
Waterloo Fire and Rescue will provide a work environment that is pleasant, healthful, comfortable, 
and free from intimidation, hostility or other offenses, which might interfere with work performance.  
Harassment of any sort - verbal, physical, sexual, visual will not be tolerated. 

What is Harassment? 
Harassment can take many forms.  It may be, but is not limited to words, signs, jokes, pranks, 
intimidation, physical contact or violence.  Harassment is not necessarily sexual in nature. 

Sexual harassment may include unwelcome sexual advances, requests for sexual favors, other 
verbal, or physical contact of a sexual nature when such conduct creates an intimidating 
environment, prevents an individual from effectively performing the duties of his or her position or  



POLICY AND PROCEDURE MANUAL WFD 

 

29  

 

What is Harassment? Cont.  
when such conduct is made a condition of employment or compensation, either implicitly or 
explicitly. 

Responsibility 
All members are responsible for keeping the work environment free of harassment.  Any member, 
who becomes aware of an incident of harassment, whether by witnessing the incident or being told 
of it, must report it.  When the Fire Chief, or officers, become aware that harassment might exist, 
they are obligated by law to take prompt and appropriate action, whether or not the victim wants the 
department to do so. 

Reporting 
Any member who has experienced harassment must report the incident immediately to the Fire 
Chief directly.  If the harassment report involves the Fire Chief the report should be made to the 
mayor.   Appropriate investigation and disciplinary action will be taken by the Fire Chief or 
appropriate party.  All reports will be promptly investigated with due regard for the privacy of 
everyone involved.  Any member found to have harassed a fellow member will be subject to severe 
disciplinary action up to and including discharge.  The department will also take any additional 
action necessary to appropriately correct the situation.  The department will not retaliate against any 
member who makes a good faith report of alleged harassment, even if the member was in error. 

The department accepts no liability for harassment of one member by another member.  The 
individual who makes unwelcome advances, threatens or in any way harasses another 
member/employee is personally liable for such actions and their consequences.  The department 
will not provide legal, financial or any other assistance to an individual accused of harassment if a 
legal complaint is filed. 

7.7). Unacceptable Activities 
The department expects each member to act in a mature and responsible way at all times.  
Because of the seriousness, occurrences of any of the following violations may result in immediate 
dismissal.  This list is not all-inclusive, and, notwithstanding this list, all members remain employed 
"at will". 
 

Willful violation of any department rule, any deliberate action that is extreme in nature and 
detrimental to the department's efforts to operate efficiently and effectively and negligence or any 
careless action that endangers the life or safety of another person.  

 
Willful violation of security or safety rules or failure to observe safety rules or practices, failure to 
wear required safety equipment and tampering with department equipment or safety equipment. 

 
Being intoxicated or under the influence of controlled substance drugs or alcohol while responding 
to an emergency, training session, assigned duty or any other department function or activity.  Use, 
possession, or sale of controlled substances in any quantity while on the department.  Exceptions 
are the possession of medications prescribed by a physician which do not impair work performance. 

 
Refusal to comply with required controlled substance and or alcohol testing as required. 

 
Unauthorized possession of dangerous or illegal firearms, weapons, or explosives on department 
property or while on duty. 

 
Engaging in criminal conduct or acts of violence, making threats of violence toward anyone on 
department premises or when representing the department, including fighting, horseplay, provoking 
a fight on department property, negligent damage of property, threatening, intimidating, or coercing 
fellow employees on or off premises at any time or for any purpose. 

 



POLICY AND PROCEDURE MANUAL WFD 

 

30  

 

7.7). Unacceptable Activities Cont.  
Engaging in an act of sabotage, willfully, or with gross negligence, causing destruction or damage 
of department property, property of fellow employees, department members, suppliers, or visitors. 

 
Theft of department property or property of fellow employees, unauthorized possession, or removal 
of department property, including documents, from the premises without prior permission from the 
Fire Chief, unauthorized use of department equipment or property for personal reasons, using 
department equipment for profit. 

 
Insubordination or refusing job assignments pertaining to member’s work as requested by the Fire 
Chief or Officer in charge. 
 
Dishonesty, willful falsification or misrepresentation on an employment application or other work 
records, dishonesty about sick or personal leave, falsifying reason for leave of absence or other 
data requested by the Fire Chief, or alteration of department records or documents. 

 
Violating the nondisclosure agreement, giving confidential or proprietary department information to 
organizations or persons not employed by the department or to unauthorized department 
employees, breach of confidentiality of personnel information. 
 
Malicious gossip, spreading rumors, engaging in behavior designed to create discord and lack of 
harmony, interfering with another member/employee on the job, willfully restricting work output or 
encouraging others to do the same. 
 
Immoral conduct or indecency on department property. 
 
Conducting a lottery or gambling on department premises, without proper permits. 

 
Sharing any information with the media (newspaper, radio, T.V. social/electronic, etc.) when not 
authorized to do so. Only the Chief Officers or their designees may give sensitive information to the 
media. 

 
Violation of HIPAA agreement. 

 
Occurrences of any of the following activities, as well as violations of any department rules or 
policies, may be subject to disciplinary action, including possible immediate dismissal.  This list is 
not all-inclusive, and notwithstanding this list, all members remain employed "at will". 
 
Unsatisfactory or careless work; failure to meet quality standards as explained by the Fire Chief; 
mistakes due to carelessness or failure to get necessary instructions. 
 
Creating or contributing to unsanitary conditions. 
 
Unlawful speeding or reckless driving of department vehicles.  Failure to immediately report 
damage to, or an accident involving department equipment. 

 
Failure to maintain an acceptable driving record in positions where it is required or failure to 
maintain any required certifications set forth in the employee’s job description. 

 
Leaving work before the end of a call or shift without approval from the Fire Chief or his/her 
designee.  

 
Failure to report or late arrival for your shift. 
 



POLICY AND PROCEDURE MANUAL WFD 

 

31  

 

7.7). Unacceptable Activities Cont.  
Using, while on duty, profane, immoral, indecent language, gestures, or actions which may tarnish 
the good reputation of the department. 

 
Excessive use of department telephone for personal calls; failure to adhere to telephone and 
cellular phone policies. 

 
Failure to comply with department computer, Internet, and e-mail policies. 

 
Unauthorized personal use of department vehicles, property and/or equipment. 

 
Smoking in any department-owned building or vehicle.    

 
Posting, removing, or altering notices on any bulletin board without proper permission.  

 
Obscene or abusive language toward any department member, indifference, or rudeness towards a 
member, disorderly or aggressive conduct on department premises. 

 
Entering any premises where alcoholic beverages are sold or consumed as the primary function 
while in department uniform, except in the performance of the fire department duties. 

 
Failure to maintain a neat and clean appearance in terms of the standards established by the Fire 
Chief or wearing improper or unsafe clothing. 
 
Posting inappropriate or derogator photos or messages on Facebook or similar type accounts that 
would tarnish the good reputation of the Department or one of its members. 
 
7.8). Sanctions 
A determination that a member’s actions constitute improper conduct under the provisions of the 
Waterloo Fire & Rescue Policy and Procedures Manual may constitute a cause for disciplinary 
action, demotion, suspension, removal from office or employment or other sanctions permitted by 
law. 

7.9) Disciplinary Actions 
Depending on the severity of the infraction, the past work record of the member and other mitigating 
circumstances, the following are disciplinary actions that may be utilized when a member conducts 
himself/herself inappropriately or performs inadequately: 

 First offense:  Verbal warning, re-education, possible extension of 
     probationary period, possible written disciplinary  
    document in member file, possible suspension,  
    demotion or discharge 
 

 Second offense: Written disciplinary document in member file, re-education, possible 
extension of probationary period, possible suspension, demotion, or 
discharge. 

 
 Third offense:     Suspension with written disciplinary document in member file, 

possibly discharge. 
 

Any offense may result in immediate dismissal without warning due to the severity or if there is 
reason to believe corrective disciplinary measures may be ineffective. 
 
 



POLICY AND PROCEDURE MANUAL WFD 

 

32  

 

7.9) Disciplinary Actions Cont.  
The Fire Chief will issue written warnings, suspensions, and immediate dismissals.  Reasons for 
every disciplinary action will be documented as fully as possible.  Opportunity will be given to a 
member to defend his or her actions and rebut the opinion of the Fire Chief.  

Fire & EMS personnel will be suspended from participating in any activities until the member’s 
appeal has been heard. 

7.10) Advisory Opinion and Summary Opinion 
Any questions as to interpretation or application of any provision of these standards of conduct shall 
be referred to the Fire Chief, which, if necessary or appropriate, may request an advisory opinion 
from the City Attorney. 

7.11) Dismissal 
Employment and compensation with the department is "at will" and can be terminated with or 
without cause, and with or without notice, at any time, at the option of either the Fire Chief or the 
member, except as otherwise provided by law. 

If members’ performance is unsatisfactory due to lack of ability, or failure to fulfill job requirements, 
he or she will be notified of the problem in writing at review.  If satisfactory change does not occur 
within a specified period of time the member may be dismissed.  The Fire Chief reserves the right to 
use their discretion to dismiss a member for offenses other than those specifically designated as 
resulting in immediate dismissal. 

7.12) Grievance Procedure 
Effective member officer relationships are necessary to carry out the department's responsibilities to 
its residents in an efficient and economical manner.  To maintain harmonious member officer 
relationships, it is advisable to give prompt consideration and equitable adjustment of member 
grievances informally, and both officers and members are expected to make every effort to resolve 
problems as they arise.  However, it is recognized there will be grievances, which will be resolved 
only after formal appeal and review.  Members are permitted to have representation present at any 
of the three steps below.   

The Grievance Procedure is as follows: 
Step 1: Discussion of the Problem with the Officer(s). If a member feels any working condition, 
policy, practice or action by the department or the Fire Chief is unjust, he or she should inform an 
officer and discuss the matter confidentially and in private with him or her. 

Step 2: Written Grievance to Fire Chief.  If the situation remains unresolved after discussion with an 
officer, a member may present the grievance in writing to the Fire Chief.  Reference Appendix H. 
The written grievance shall fully state the details of the problem and suggest a remedy.  It should 
also include a summary of communications with the officer/s on the subject. The written grievance 
should be filed within five (5) days of discussion with the officers. 

Step 3: Grievance Conference with the Fire Chief and Mayor. The Fire Chief will review the 
grievance and call the member for a scheduled conference with the mayor.  This may, at their 
discretion, be with or without the presence of other officers.  At this conference, the member should 
feel free to openly discuss the complaint and substantiate the reasons for such grievance.  The Fire 
Chief and Mayor will consider the member’s input and render a decision. The conference should be 
scheduled within 15 days of filling the written grievance.   

 

 



POLICY AND PROCEDURE MANUAL WFD 

 

33  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

DRUG – FREE WORKPLACE 

and 

DRUG TESTING POLICIES 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



POLICY AND PROCEDURE MANUAL WFD 

 

34  

 

Article VIII 
 

8.1) Drug-Free Workplace Policy 
The Department recognizes the importance of maintaining a safe, efficient and healthful workplace.  
Because drug use can seriously jeopardize the health and safety of members and the public, it is 
the responsibility of the department to maintain a drug-free workplace policy to prevent harm to self 
or others and to prevent damage to the reputation and professional image of the Department.  It is 
the responsibility of all department members to abide by the terms of this policy as a condition of 
employment. 
During the time members are assigned to be on call, members are expected to be entirely free from 
alcohol or any substances that could inhibit their ability to perform their duties.   
 
No member should respond to an emergency if they appear visibly intoxicated, or when their blood 
alcohol concentration is 0.04% or above. 
 
Federal Highway Administration rules do not allow drivers to have greater than 0.04% alcohol in 
their system. 
 
No members should ever be under the influence of an illegal substance or a controlled substance 
not used as prescribed.  
 
Testing 
Every applicant for employment to the department will be required to undergo and pass a drug test 
before becoming a member of the Waterloo Fire Department. 
 
If at any time there is reasonable suspicion that a member is under the influence of drugs and/or 
alcohol the member will be required to submit to a drug test.  Reasonable suspicion will be based 
upon observable actions, alone or in conjunction with other factors including, but not limited to: 
dangerous or accident-prone conduct, decreased job performance which is unexplained, complaints 
from other members, reduced short term memory, inability to concentrate, anxiety, and physical 
symptoms such as bloodshot eyes or dilated pupils. 
 
As soon as possible after an accident each member directly involved, or whose performance 
contributed to the accident, must submit to a drug/alcohol test.   
 
Refusal to submit to a drug test will be considered a positive test and the member subject to 
disciplinary action up to and including termination. 
 
Reporting Of Drug Conviction 
All members must notify the Fire Chief of any criminal drug statute conviction for a violation of 
Federal or State law relating to drug or alcohol use or possession no later than five (5) days after 
such conviction.    
Within thirty (30) days of learning of a drug conviction, the department will require the member to 
satisfactorily participate in a Drug Assistance or Rehabilitation Program approved by the 
department and at the member’s expense. 
A member’s failure to abide by the terms of the specified Drug Assistance or Rehabilitation Program 
will result in disciplinary action up to, and including, dismissal.   

 
 
 
 
 



POLICY AND PROCEDURE MANUAL WFD 

 

35  

 

8.1) Drug-Free Workplace Policy 
 
Prevention and Rehabilitation 
The goals of this policy are prevention and rehabilitation whenever possible.  Members needing 
help to deal with drug or alcohol problems are encouraged to seek and use rehabilitation agencies 
at their own expense.  The department treats drug addiction as an illness and provides for a leave 
of absence under the provisions for Medical Leave in this Personnel Manual.  The department also 
recognizes drug abuse as a potential health and safety problem.  Conscientious efforts to seek help 
will not jeopardize a member’s job, and contacts with those agencies initiated only by the employee 
will not be known nor noted in any personnel record. 
 
Leave Of Absence  
A member shall be permitted to take a leave of absence for the purpose of undergoing treatment 
pursuant to a Drug Assistance or Rehabilitation Program.  The leave of absence must be requested 
prior to the chief or designee of any act subject to disciplinary action. 
 
Drug and Alcohol Regulations 
The unlawful manufacture, distribution, dispensation, possession, purchase, or use of illegal drugs 
by members is prohibited and is subject to disciplinary action up to and including termination. 
 
Intentionally tampering with, causing another person to tamper with, substituting for, or causing 
another person to substitute for a urine and /or blood specimen, whether the members own 
specimen or another member’s specimen will constitute cause for termination of the member(s) 
who engage in such activity.  
 
Any member who fails to cooperate with any part of the testing process or behaves in a 
confrontational way that disrupts the collection process is subject to disciplinary action up to and 
including termination. 
 
  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



POLICY AND PROCEDURE MANUAL WFD 

 

36  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

APPENDICES 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



POLICY AND PROCEDURE MANUAL WFD 

 

37  

 

Appendix A:               
 

RESIGNATION/INACTIVE FORM 
 
Date of resignation/inactive: ________________ 
 
To Waterloo Fire and Rescue officers and members, 
 
I am notifying you of my resignation from the department effective on the above date. Place my 
personnel folder in the inactive file. At this time, I am unable to stay active in the department as 
defined in the Policies and Procedures. When and if life changes, I understand that I may re-apply 
through the interview process and would be asked to adhere to those requirements.  
 
I will, return issued items in good working order and in a timely manner. I understand that failure to 
return this equipment may result in paying for it.  
 
I recognize that resident businesses entrusted me, as a department member, with important 
information relating to their health, property and business, and I understand that it is my obligation 
to maintain the confidentiality as agreed to as a member.  
 
Signed: __________________________________________________ Date: _________________ 
 
***************************************************************************************************************** 
Returned: 
  Key(s)      Turnout Gear – Including tools etc.  

  Pager      Department EMS Jacket (if applicable) 

  Radio      Complete Dress Uniform 

  Laptop      Other: _________________________ 

  ID Badge      Other: _________________________ 
 
Missing items: ___________________________________________________________________ 
 
Cost of missing items: _____________________________________________________________ 
 
(Some members may by allowed to keep items at the discrepancy of the Chief Officers) 
 
Notes: _________________________________________________________________________ 
 
_______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
_______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
_______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
Acknowledging Officer Signature: __________________________________ Date: ____________ 



POLICY AND PROCEDURE MANUAL WFD 

 

38  

 

Appendix B-1:                            
INFECTIOUS EXPOSURE FORM 

 
 
Date of Exposure: __________________________ Time of Exposure:_______________________ 
 
Exposed members name: Last _____________________ MI _____ First _____________________ 
 
Position: __________________ SS #: ______-_____-______ Phone #: ______-______-_________ 
 
Incident #: ____-________ Shift: __________ Company: _________________________________ 
 
Name of Patient: Last _______________ MI _____ First _______________ Sex: ______________ 
 
Age: _____ Address: Street ______________________ City ____________________ State _____ 
 
Suspected or Confirmed Disease: ____________________________________________________ 
 
Transported to: _____________________________ Transported by: ________________________ 
 
Type of Incident: (MVC, Trauma or Medical) ___________________________________________ 
 
Type of protective equipment utilized: _________________________________________________ 
 
How was it exposed:   ___ Blood     ___ Tears     ___ Feces     ___ Urine     ___ Saliva                 
 
___ Vomitus     ___ Sputum     ___ Sweat     ____ Other Specify: ___________________________ 
 
What part of the body became exposed? BE SPECIFIC: __________________________________ 
 
_______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Did you have any open cuts, sores, or rashes that became exposed? BE SPECIFIC: ___________ 
 
_______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
How did expose occur? BE SPECIFIC: ________________________________________________ 
 
_______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
_______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Did you seek medical attention?   ___ Yes     ___ No 
 
If Yes, where? _____________________________________________Date: _________________ 
 
 
Officer Signature: ___________________________________________ Date: ________________ 
 
 
Member Signature: __________________________________________ Date: ________________ 
 
 
 



POLICY AND PROCEDURE MANUAL WFD 

 

39  

 

Appendix B-2:              
 

INFECTION CONTROL SUPERVISOR’S REPORT 
 
 

 
Medical Facility Notified:   ___ Yes     ___No     If Yes Date: _______________________________ 
 
Name of Facility: _________________________________________________________________ 
 
Address of Facility: _______________________________________________________________ 
 
Name of Facility contact: ___________________________________________________________ 
 
Confirmed Exposure: ______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
Member Notified:   ___ Yes    ___ No     Members Signature: ______________________________ 
 
Medical Follow-up Action: __________________________________________________________ 
 
_______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
_______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
_______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
_______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Remarks: _______________________________________________________________________ 
 
_______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
_______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
_______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
_______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
 
Officers Signature: ____________________________________________ Date: ______________ 
 
 
 
Members Signature: ___________________________________________ Date: ______________ 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



POLICY AND PROCEDURE MANUAL WFD 

 

40  

 

Appendix C-1: 
WORK INJURY REPORT 

You are responsible for answering all questions on the Employee’s Work Injury Report accurately and in detail. 
This will make the processing of your claim both accurate and timely. This completed report should be given to the 

workers’ compensation contact within 24 hours of your work related injury.  
 

Employee’s Work Injury Report 

P
e

rs
o

n
a

l 

 
Name __________________________________________ Social Security Number _____-_____-_______ 
 
Address ____________________________________________ Birth Date ___/___/_____ Sex  M       F  
 
Married      Single      Number of Dependents ________ Home/School ___________________________ 
 
Family Physician ____________________________________ Telephone Number _____-_____-________ 
 

E
m

p
lo

ym
e

n
t 

 
Job Title __________________________________________ Employment Date _____/_____/__________ 
 
Salary/Hourly ______________________________________ Hours Worked Per Day _________________ 
 
Building Location ___________________________________ Time Work Day Begins _________________ 

In
ju

ry
/Il

ln
es

s
 

 
Date of Injury ________________________________ Time of Accident ____________________________ 
 
Where in the facility/job site did this injury occur? ______________________________________________ 
 
What were you doing when injured? ________________________________________________________ 
 
How did the injury occur? _________________________________________________________________ 
 
Describe the injury or illness in detail   _______________________________________________________ 
and indicate the part of the body  
affected (Designate right or left)           _______________________________________________________ 
 
Any previous similar injury? If yes explain ____________________________________________________ 
 
Was this injury witnessed? If so, by whom? ___________________________________________________ 
 
Did you lose time from work?   Yes    No      Date(s) missed ____________________________________ 
 
Have you returned?   Yes    No                     If yes, what was the date? ___________________________ 
 

T
re

at
m

e
n

t  
Medical Facility _________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Diagnosis/Care Prescribed ________________________________________________________________ 

C
o

n
ta

ct
  

You must notify the workers compensation contact, _________ when you return to work. Call ___-___-____ 
 
 
Employee Signature: ________________________________________________ Date: ____/____/______ 

 
 



POLICY AND PROCEDURE MANUAL WFD 

 

41  

 

Appendix C-2  
WORK INJURY SUPERVISOR INVESTIGATION REPORT 

 
SUPERVISOR’S INVESTIGATION REPORT 

 
Name of injured employee: _____________________________________ Date ____/____/______ 
 
Job title and department: ___________________________________________________________ 
 
Date of injury ____/____/______ Time of injury __________ Type of injury ___________________ 
 
Medical Facility __________________________________________________________________ 
 
What was the employee doing when injured?___________________________________________ 
 
Where in the facility/job site did the accident happen?____________________________________ 
 
If the incident was witnessed. List names ______________________________________________ 
 
Describe what happened ___________________________________________________________ 
 
_______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
What corrective steps will be taken (or could be taken) to prevent recurrence? _________________ 
 
_______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Was the employee working at designated job?   Yes      No  
 
Is the modified duty available for the injured worker?   Yes     No  
 
Has the injured employee returned to work?    Yes      No     If so, what date? ____/____/______ 
 
Supervisor’s Signature: ______________________________________ Date: ____/____/________ 
 
Workers Compensation Representative: _________________________ Date: ____/____/_______ 
 
Comments: _____________________________________________________________________ 
 
_______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
_______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
_______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Return completed report within 24 hours of the accident to the workers’ compensation representative.  

 



POLICY AND PROCEDURE MANUAL WFD 

 

42  

 

Appendix D:                    
 
 
 

REQUEST FOR LEAVE OF ABSENCE FORM 
 
 
Member: ___________________________________ Department: _________________________ 
 
Request a leave of absence from ___ Fire     ___ EMS duties.  
 
Type of leave of absence requested: 
        Personal 

        Military 

        Medical  

        Maternity 

        Family 

        Job/Career 
 
Request a leave of absence, based on the condition in this manual, from the Waterloo Fire Rescue  
Department beginning on __________ and ending on __________ (if known). I hereby 
acknowledge receipt of a copy of the Waterloo Fire Rescue Department manual, including Article 
VI, which contains information on “leave of absence,” and understand the terms and conditions 
contained therein.  
 
I understand that I have a responsibility to keep my license up to date at my own expense. If this is 
an extended leave, I may be asked to return my issued equipment, including keys and ID. If I do not 
return at my anticipated date, and am not in contact with the officers, I may be moved to inactive 
and may be asked to have a meeting with the Chief Officers.  
 
 
 
Members Signature: __________________________________________ Date: _______________ 
 
 
 
Officer Signature: ____________________________________________ Date: _______________ 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



POLICY AND PROCEDURE MANUAL WFD 

 

43  

 

Appendix E:           
 
 
               Acknowledgement of Courtesy Dash Lights and its use.  
 

1) It is not the intent of the City of Waterloo or the Waterloo Fire Rescue Department to 
assume any liability of its employees or members for the use of a Courtesy dash light while 
responding to calls within the City of Waterloo.  
 

2) It will be the sole responsibility of the Waterloo Fire Rescue Department Chief Officers to 
determine and control which employee or member is authorized to use a courtesy dash 
light.  
 

3) The authorized use of the courtesy dash light does not give any privileges to the user and 
shall comply with all traffic regulations except for nonmoving traffic regulations.  

 
I acknowledge I understand the liability for the use of the courtesy dash light. I further understand I 
cannot hold the City of Waterloo or the Waterloo Fire Rescue Department liable for its use.  
 
 
 
Signature of Member/employee: _______________________________Date: _____________ 
 
 
 
Signature of Chief Officer: ____________________________________Date: _____________ 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



POLICY AND PROCEDURE MANUAL WFD 

 

44  

 

Appendix F-1:                                 SEXUAL HARASSMENT 
  
 
Complaint’s Name: _________________________ Position: ______________________________ 
 
Department: ______________________________ Supervisor: ____________________________ 
 
1 – Verbal complaint discussed with _____________________________ on (Date) ____________ 
 
2 – Answer received on _______________________________________ was not satisfactory.  
 
3 – STATEMENT of COMPLAINT: 
 
(Please read the attached Sexual Harassment Policy before you complete the balance of this form) 
 
A – Name(s) of Person(s) accused of sexual harassment: 
 
_______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
_______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
B – Date(s) of Incident(s): __________________________________________________________ 
 
C – Description of Incident(s): 
 
(Describe what happened. Be specific. Include all actions of statements, including your own. Who 
was present, where did it happen, etc.) 
 
_______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
_______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
_______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
_______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
_______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
_______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
(Use and attach sheets if necessary.) 
 
I hereby certify that the information provided by me on this form is true and accurate to the best of 
my knowledge and recollection.  
 
 
Signature: ___________________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
 
 
Received Signature: ____________________________________ Date: _____________________ 
 
 
 
 



POLICY AND PROCEDURE MANUAL WFD 

 

45  

 

Appendix F-2:                             Sexual Harassment form (con’t) 
 

WITNESS STATEMENT 
 

 
Name: _________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Person(s) involved: _______________________________________________________________ 
 
What happened? (Be specific. Include all actions and who was present when it happened, etc.) 
 
_______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
_______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
_______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
_______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
_______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
_______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
_______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
_______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
_______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
_______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
_______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
_______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
_______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
_______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
_______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
_______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
_______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
I hereby certify that the information provided by me on the form is true and accurate to the best of 
my knowledge and recollection. 
 
 
Signature: _______________________________________________ Date: __________________ 
 
 
 
 



POLICY AND PROCEDURE MANUAL WFD 

 

46  

 

Appendix G:                                        COMPLAINT FORM 
 
 
Complainant and Contact Information: Name: __________________________________________  
 
Address: _________________________City: _______________ State: ____ Zip code: _________ 
 
Home #: _____-_____-________ Work #: _____-_____-________ Cell #: _____-_____-_________ 
 
DOB: _____/_____/________ Work Hours: ____________________________________________ 
 
Statement Giver is:   ___ Aggrieved Party     ___ Witness to Incident     ___ Other: _____________ 
 
 
Involved Personnel and Allegation: 
 
Member(s) name and or Rank: ______________________________________________________ 
 
Case Number (if available): _________________________________________________________ 
 
Date and approximate time of incident: ________________________________________________ 
 
Location: _______________________________________________________________________ 
 
Witnesses: (include name, address & phone #): 
_______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Witnesses: (include name, address & phone #): 
_______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Allegation(s): ____________________________________________________________________ 
 
_______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
_______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
_______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
_______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
_______________________________________________________________________________ 

Please attach additional sheets as necessary 
 

I, _______________________________, the above name complainant, state that I have read the 
above complaint, and do solemnly swear/affirm that the information contained herein is true and 
complete to my knowledge.  
 
Date the _______________day of _____________________, 20_____ at _________am – pm 
 
 
Signature: _____________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
 



POLICY AND PROCEDURE MANUAL WFD 

 

47  

 

Appendix H-1:                               
 

FORMAL MEMBER GRIEVANCE 
Waterloo Fire & Rescue 

Waterloo, WI 
 

 
PLEASE PRINT OR TYPE 
 
Member Name: ___________________________________ Department: ____________________ 
 
Date of Grievance: _______________________________ Date of Filling:____________________ 
 
Nature of Grievance (attach a separate sheet of paper explaining in detail the nature of grievance) 
 
Witnesses/other informed persons:___________________________________________________ 
_______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Has grievance been discussed with your Officer? ___ Yes     ___ No 
 
If yes, with whom? __________________________________ When (Date)? _________________ 
 
What action has been taken? _______________________________________________________ 
 
Has grievance been discussed with a Chief Officer? ___ Yes     ___ No 
 
If yes, with whom? __________________________________ When (Date)? _________________ 
 
What action has been taken? _______________________________________________________ 
 
Has grievance been discussed with Mayor? ___ Yes     ___ No 
 
If yes, When (Date)? ________________ 
 
What action has been taken? _______________________________________________________ 
 
 
Member Signature: _______________________________________________________________ 
 

DO NOT WRITE BELOW THIS LINE 
***************************************************************************************************************** 

 
Date formal member grievance received ________________ 
 
Initial meeting heard on (Date) ________________________ 
 
Chief Officer findings: _____________________________________________________________ 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



POLICY AND PROCEDURE MANUAL WFD 

 

48  

 

Appendix H-2:  
GRIEVANCE FINDINGS 

 
 
 

Member notified of findings (Date): __________  
 
How notified: ___ In writing ___ In person – By whom? ___________________________________ 
 
Hearing Scheduled for (Date): __________ Member notified of hearing date on __________(Date) 
 
Appearances at hearing: ___________________________________________________________ 
 
_______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Action taken: ____________________________________________________________________ 
 
Written summary of findings sent to member (Date) ______________________________________ 
 
 
Signature of Chief Officer: __________________________________________________________ 
 
Hearing before Officers requested by member? ___ Yes     ___ No 
 
Date request made: __________ Hearing Date: __________ 
 
Appearances: ___________________________________________________________________ 
 
_______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Findings: _______________________________________________________________________ 
 
_______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Member notified of findings (Date): __________________________ 
 
Reconsideration by Chief Officers requested? ___ Yes     ___ No 
 
Date requested made: __________ Request: ___ Denied     ___ Approved 
 
Date reconsideration to be held: _____________________________________________________ 
 
Member notified of reconsideration Date: ______________________________________________ 
 
Action taken: ____________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
Signature of Chief Officer: __________________________________________________________ 
 
 
 
 
 
 



POLICY AND PROCEDURE MANUAL WFD 

 

49  

 

Appendix I: Chain of Authority and Management 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

FIRE CHIEF

CHAPLIN
PUBLIC 

INFORMATION 
OFFICER

SECRETARY ASSISTANT 
FIRE CHIEF

CAPTAINS

LIEUTENANTS

MEMBERS

EMS TRAINING 
COORDINATOR

EMS 
ASSISTANT 

SERVICE 
DIRECTOR



POLICY AND PROCEDURE MANUAL WFD 

 

50  

 

Appendix J: 
Training Request for Approval 

 
 
 

 
Date of Request: __________________________ 
 
 
Date(s) of Training: _______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
Type of Training: _________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
Name of Training: ________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
Cost of Training: _________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
Location of Training: ______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
Hotel Cost: _____________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
Name of Member (print): ___________________________________________________________ 
 
 
Signature of Member: _____________________________________________ Member #: _______ 
 
 
Chief Officer Signature for approval: __________________________________________________ 
 
 
Date Approved: ______________________________ 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



POLICY AND PROCEDURE MANUAL WFD 

 

51  

 

Appendix K-1:  
JOB TITLES AND DUTIES 

 
Chief:  
This department head position provides strategic leadership and vision for the Fire & Rescue 
Department to support the organization's mission, and key strategies. The position is also 
responsible for the overall management and operation of the Fire & Rescue Department. The 
work involves supervising subordinate staff who oversee the day-to-day operations and related 
work of prevention & public education, training, fire suppression, emergency medical transport 
and administration. The work also involves establishing departmental plans, goals and budgets 
and monitoring the overall effectiveness and costs of the Fire & Rescue Department. The 
incumbent works under the general direction of the mayor and appropriate committees. 
 
-Supervises and directs all Fire & Rescue Department operations and administrative functions. 
-Participates in and supports the ongoing strategic planning process for the city as an integral 
member of the City Leadership Team. Lead the development and implementation of the Fire & 
Rescue Department strategic plan and ensures alignment with the City's plan. Oversees long 
and short-term department goals. 
-Organizes, leads and facilitates the functioning of the Fire & Rescue Department, with a focus 
on continuous improvement, excellent customer service and public safety. 
-Oversees budgetary planning and cost management in alignment with the City's strategic plan. 
-Leads, develops and mentors staff. 
-Manages and monitors staff performance goals and departmental performance goals. 
-Advises and directs subordinates in the performance of their duties. 
-Consults with and advises the Mayor and Aldermen on issues related to the Department. 
-Participates in labor negotiations, administers labor agreements, and addresses grievances. 
-Approves purchasing requests and contracts. 
-Reviews and approves development and revision of policies, procedures and work rules to 
ensure regulatory compliance and the effective utilization of physical and financial resources. 
-Approves variance to code authorization. 
-Plans, approves and implements new programs and service levels. 
-Determines staffing, service levels and budgetary needs for future considerations. 
-Participates in state and local fire service organizations. 
-Serves as a department liaison with other City departments, at various meetings, with the 
media, and local, state, and federal officials and the public. 
-Actively participates as a member of the Director Team. 
-Participate in Public Safety Committee and City Council meetings. 
-Promotes Department image and educates public through presentations and speeches. 
-Maintains regular punctual and predictable attendance, works overtime and extra hours as 
required. 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



POLICY AND PROCEDURE MANUAL WFD 

 

52  

 

Appendix K-2: JOB TITLES AND DUTIES Cont. 
 
Assistant Chief:  
The Assistant Chief of Fire & Rescue Department is to provide assistance in supervising, 
directing, and coordinating the operations and activities of the Fire & Rescue Operations, under 
direct supervision of the Fire Chief. Responsibility extends to appraisal of facilities, equipment, 
and personnel to ensure a constant state of readiness. Required to respond to emergency calls 
as necessary to effectively command and control the operational goals of the department. 
Provides highly responsible and complex administrative and management support to the Fire 
Chief; and assumes the role as the Fire Chief when directed to do so. 
 
-Assists with the management, directing, and supervision of the physical resources of the 
Agency in day-to-day operations. 
-Recommend and/or perform the full range of management duties (with appropriate executive 
review) including, performance evaluations, transferring, promoting, and disciplining. 
-Assists in the preparation and supervision of program budgets that may include operations, 
EMS, and training. 
-Assists the Fire Chief and staff with development of short and long-range goals and planning. 
-Ensures that all Agency equipment and buildings are maintained in top condition. 
-Provides assistance with purchasing new equipment including fire apparatus, fire stations, and 
other department needs as directed. 
-Coordinates annual certification testing of fire apparatus and equipment. 
-Serves as the liaison/coordinator of communications associated with the Joint Dispatch 
Center. 
-Supports and supervises the Captains, Lieutenants in their stead, to be certain daily and 
monthly activities are completed. 
-Investigates, discusses, and takes action concerning various types of personnel problems. 
-May act as Incident Commander, Resource Officer, Public Information Officer, and/or 
Interdepartmental Liaison for complex or multi-agency incidents. 
-Serve as assistant to the Chief of Fire and Rescue for county emergency operations center 
activities. 
-Acts as department spokesperson to the media.  Provides timely releases regarding 
responses to incidents and topics of community concern. 
-Reviews and responds to general public complaints and requests for information and 
guidance. 
-Supports and assists in the achievement of goals and objectives of the department. 
-Cooperates and arranges joint training scenarios with surrounding community fire 
departments. 
-Supports MABAS with surrounding community fire departments. 
-Participate in ongoing education, training, and development activities to maintain and improve 
professional knowledge and skills as a Fire Officer. 
-Provides assistance in conducting investigations of suspicious fires; assists Police, State Fire 
Marshall, and insurance investigators in preparing cases for prosecution. 
-Represent the Agency on a local, regional, state, and national level as directed or approved by 
the Fire Chief. 
-Safely perform as a firefighter, fire officer or emergency responder on emergency incidents. 
-Other related duties as necessary 
 
 
 
 
 



POLICY AND PROCEDURE MANUAL WFD 

 

53  

 

Appendix K-3: JOB TITLES AND DUTIES Cont. 
 
CAPTAINS: 
 
-Fill the role of team leader to direct, coordinate, the personnel that respond to incident scenes. 
-Establish and maintain a safe and harmonious work environment that ensures the Department is ready 
to safely and effectively respond to a request for service in an expeditious manner and without 
controllable delay. 
-Respond to emergency medical, fire, and other calls for assistance when requested and in compliance 
with all department procedures and operational guidelines 
-Working with the Training Team, plan, schedule, track, direct, coordinate, lead and/or oversee the 
delivery of initial, on-going and refresher all-hazards trainings to establish and maintain a safe and 
proficient department membership that maximizes the level of service provided by the district; and 
assures compliance with all state and national training requirements. 
-Complete accurate training records.  
-Serve as the “Officer-in-Charge” when in the absence or unavailability of an equal or higher-ranking 
officer.  
-As necessary, initiate the National Incident Management System and/or incident command system and 
serve as the “Incident Commander” when needed, in the absence of another qualified employee, or 
when called upon in accordance with department Incident Command guidelines. 
-Collect information, complete, or cause to be completed thorough and accurate reports concerning 
department operations and complete related administrative tasks. 
-Participate as part of the chain of command as directed by the Deputy Chief – Operations in 
overseeing, coordinating, and/or participating in the general maintenance apparatus, tools, and 
equipment to ensure readiness. 
-Ensure adherence to the department’s safety program associated with all activities and operations. 
-Assist, lead, and/or recommend the development and/or modification of policies, procedures, and 
standards in order to enhance the overall operations and functions of the department and assigned 
program area(s) of responsibilities. 
-Lead subordinate personnel through the chain-of-command, coordinate and oversee duties including 
instructing, maintaining standards, coordinating activities, allocating personnel, acting on employee 
issues or problems, and making Department management aware of situations that may involve 
employee discipline. 
-Coordinate the development and/or updating of pre-incident emergency response plans for facilities 
within the district that have been determined to be a target hazard or pose a life safety or unique hazard. 
-Establish, maintain, and nurture a high degree of cooperation and trust with and between governmental 
and community leaders, communities, boards, councils, commissions, associations, entities, and allied 
community service providers.  
-Attend and/or participate in topical conferences and training opportunities to remain current with current 
trends in fire and emergency medical service delivery. 
-Perform duties in conformance with Federal, State, County, District, City and Town laws and 
ordinances.  
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



POLICY AND PROCEDURE MANUAL WFD 

 

54  

 

Appendix K-4: JOB TITLES AND DUTIES Cont. 
 
LIEUTENANTS: 
 
-Assist in leadership roles within the department 
-Participate in the role of incident command 
-Command workforce in the best interest of safety and the best interest of the community 
-Complete reports, assist with policy changes, and implantation of new directives 
-Participate as an instructor during trainings 
-Participate in incident responses 
-Attend trainings conferences, seminars, and meetings to remain knowledgeable with modern 
suppression methods 
-Conducts inspections of vehicle and station with assigned personnel 
-Conducts other duties as assigned by the Fire Chief or designee 
 
PUBLIC INFORMATION OFFICER: 
 
-Proactively develop accurate, accessible, and timely information for use in press/media briefings, 
written media releases, or web and social media posts  
-Monitor information from traditional media, the web, and social media that is relevant to incident 
planning and forward it as appropriate  
-Understand and advise incident command on any necessary limits on information release  
-Obtain the IC’s approval of public materials  
-Conduct and prepare officials for media briefings  
-Arrange for tours, community outreach events, interviews, and briefings  
-Make information about the incident available to incident personnel  
-Participate in planning meetings  
-Identify and implement rumor control methods 
 
EMS ASSISTANT SERVICE DIRECTOR: 
 
-Serve as the primary contact between the emergency medical service provider and the 
department. 
-Assure that all elements of the operational plan are kept current. 
-Assure that EMS personnel are properly licensed and credentialed. It is recommended that you 
check all staff licenses to insure they are valid and you keep a copy on file 
-Provide day-to-day supervision of the ambulance service provider's operations. 
-Develop and maintain networks with local hospitals, emergency room physicians, and regulatory 
agencies to provide a liaison for EMS services. 
-Conducts follow up on patient care and patient outcomes to department personnel as 
needed/requested. 
-Assist as necessary in the develop and implementation of probationary EMS member/employee 
work plans and performance improvement plans to improve member/employee performance as 
requested by department Chief Officers or the Supervising Physician. 
-Collects, reviews, and manages all records and data from EMS activities. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



POLICY AND PROCEDURE MANUAL WFD 

 

55  

 

Appendix K-5: JOB TITLES AND DUTIES Cont. 
 
EMS TRAINING COORDINATOR: 
 
-Plan and coordinate a variety of Emergency Medical Services continuing education classes, 
exercises, and skills evaluations consistent with Aurora Summit Medical Director and department 
requirements for all levels of licensed EMS personnel.   
-Coordinate the certification of department personnel in the American Heart Association 
Cardiopulmonary Resuscitation (CPR) and Advanced Cardiac Life Support (ACLS). 
-Coordinate the preparation, organization, delivery, and maintenance of training materials in 
conjunction with the EMS/Fire Instructor(s).  
-Assist with the tracking of EMS training records within the department Learning Management 
System. Maintain departmental and individual member/employee EMS training records as needed 
for reporting purposes. 
-Develop and maintain networks with local hospitals, emergency room physicians, and regulatory 
agencies to provide a liaison for EMS training. 
-Develop recruit EMS member/employee work plans in conjunction with the Training Officer to 
improve member/employee performance as necessary. 
-Provide ongoing evaluation of recruit member/employees' EMS progression during academies and 
provide input during the probationary periods as appropriate and/or requested. 
-Conducts continuous quality improvement of the EMS system to assist with department training 
needs at the direction of the Supervising Physician and the Chief. 
 
SECRETARY: 
-Safekeeping of all confidential records, reports and correspondence relating to the Fire Department 
operations 
-Document and note meeting minutes from the Department meetings.  
-Perform any other Fire Department duties as assigned by the Fire Chief. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



POLICY AND PROCEDURE MANUAL WFD 

 

56  

 

Appendix L-1: 
JOB DESCRIPTIONS AND DUTIES 

 
Fulltime Firefighter/AEMT: 
-Establish and maintain a safe and harmonious work environment that ensures the Department and 
member/employees are ready to safely and effectively respond to a request for service in an expeditious 
manner and without controllable delay. 
-Respond to fires, emergency medical, and other requests for assistance when requested in compliance 
with all Department procedures and operational guidelines; both while on-duty and when available off-
duty within Department guidelines. 
-Conduct or assist in conducting fire inspections and re-inspections when required to ensure that the 
Department meets all internal and applicable State and National inspection requirements. 
-As required, serve as the lead worker of a group or company when scheduled, or in the absence or 
unavailability of a higher-ranking individual. 
-As necessary, initiate the National Incident Management System and/or Incident Command system and 
serve as the “Incident Commander” when required, in the absence or unavailability of another qualified 
employee, or when called upon in accordance with Department Incident Command guidelines. 
-Collect information and complete, or cause to be completed, thorough and accurate reports concerning 
Department operations and complete related administrative tasks. 
-Lead and/or participate in training activities. 
-Assist, lead, and/or recommend the development and/or modification of policies, procedures, and 
standards in order to enhance the overall operations and functions of the Department and assigned 
program area(s) of responsibilities. 
-Assist and/or lead in planning efforts and develop of pre-incident emergency response plans for 
facilities within the district. 
-Attend and/or participate in topical conferences and training opportunities to remain current with current 
trends in fire and emergency medical service delivery. 
-Perform station and house duties as defined by the Department, 
-Perform other duties of the Department as assigned by supervisory personnel. 
-Perform duties in conformance with Federal, State, County, District, City and Town laws and 
ordinances.  
-Coordinates the orientation of new members to department policies & procedures, bylaws, medical 
protocols, courses, and medical equipment. 
 
OPERATOR: 
-Safely drive firefighting apparatus to and from fires or other emergencies following laws and 
regulations, operating pumps, aerial devices, power and other mechanical equipment as required, 
keep inventory of tools, and equipment on apparatus.  
-Clean and service assigned apparatus, maintaining it in a condition of readiness, report 
mechanical failures or difficulties and missing or damaged equipment to the proper authority.  
-Operate, without direct supervision, various Fire Department aerial apparatus and/or pumping 
apparatus with multiple water intake and discharge situations at an emergency scene.  
-Perform required apparatus maintenance, cleaning duties, inventory checks and monthly 
inspections. Additionally, after every emergency response or training drill, inventories must be 
checked before leaving the emergency scene or training location.  
-Participate in Department training sessions and company drills. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



POLICY AND PROCEDURE MANUAL WFD 

 

57  

 

Appendix L-2: JOB DESCRIPTIONS AND DUTIES Cont.  
 
FIREFIGHTER: 
-Attend training courses; read and study assigned materials related to fire prevention, suppression, 
rescue, CPR and emergency medical responder or first aid.  
-Respond to alarms according to the Department Standard Operating Guidelines; stretch and 
connect hose; maneuver nozzles; direct fire streams; raise and climb ladders; use portable fire 
extinguishers; utilize personal protective clothing, breathing apparatus, and forcible entry tools 
-Ventilate buildings by opening windows and skylights or by cutting holes in roofs and floors 
-Perform rescue operations in a team setting 
-Perform salvage operations by placing salvage covers, controlling water damage and removing 
debris 
-Participate in department drills and attend outside courses in fire prevention, suppression, and 
rescue techniques 
-Relay instructions, orders and information, know response routes and location of target hazards 
-Perform general maintenance work and upkeep of Fire Department apparatus equipment and 
property. This includes monthly apparatus and SCBA inspections 
-Perform related work as required or directed to do so by a department officer 
-Respond to emergency medical calls according to the Department Standard Operating Guidelines; 
perform duties at the Emergency Medical Responder or First Aid assisting EMS with patient care as 
necessary. 
 
AEMT: 
-Respond to emergency and non-emergency calls, perform high quality patient assessments, and 
make critical care decisions quickly to develop a pre-hospital stabilization and treatment plan.  
-Collect pertinent patient care data and enter the information into department patient care reports 
and reporting software.  
-Exhibits excellent verbal and written communication skills.  
-Communicates clearly with the patient, co-workers, first responders, bystanders, and other 
healthcare professionals to provide high quality, prehospital patient care.  
-Ability to assess emergency scenes.  
-Ability to identify scene safety issues, implement, adjust, and maintain scene safety as situations 
change.  
-Handle non-medical situations such as crowd control and protecting the valuables of a patient if 
necessary.  
-Operate standard equipment such as stretchers, cots, patient care monitors, and standard 
diagnostic equipment.  
-Maintain the interior and exterior of department vehicles. This includes, but is not limited to, 
restocking and cleaning the exterior and interior of ambulances as well as general cleaning and 
upkeep of ambulances, station and supply areas as needed.  
-Extricate persons from vehicles; kneel, bend, lift, and stand for extended periods of time.  
-Perform CPR for extended periods of time.  
-Be able to remain calm and deliver quality care in high-pressure, extreme stress, situations.  
-Maintain good physical condition and personal hygiene.  
-Perform appropriate clean up and disposal of contaminated items when necessary.  
-Maintain patient confidentiality at all times.  
-Assist in public relations and recruiting of new personnel.  
-Attend meetings, trainings, continuing education and refresher training programs as required by 
employer, medical direction, licensing and/or certifying agencies.  
-Knowledge of computer processing. Vocational or business skills such as typing, operating 
business machines such as fax machines and copiers.  
-Establish and maintain effective working relationships with co-workers, supervisors, and the 
general public and work effectively as a team member.  
-Complies with state regulations and services guidelines and polices. 



POLICY AND PROCEDURE MANUAL WFD 

 

58  

 

Appendix L-3: JOB DESCRIPTIONS AND DUTIES Cont.  
EMT: 
-Respond to emergency and non-emergency 911 calls. 
-Extricate persons from vehicles; kneel, bend, lift, and stand for extended periods of time.  
-Perform CPR for extended periods of time.  
-Be able to remain calm and deliver quality care in high-pressure, extreme stress, situations.  
-Maintain good physical condition and personal hygiene.  
-Perform appropriate clean up and disposal of contaminated items when necessary.  
-Maintain patient confidentiality at all times.  
-Assist in public relations and recruiting of new personnel.   
-Obtains information from persons involved, examines victims and determines nature, extent, or 
magnitude of illness or injury to establish emergency medical procedures to be followed or need for 
additional assistance.  
-Provide efficient and immediate care to the critically ill and injured within the scope of their license.  
-Applies splints; administers oxygen or artificial resuscitation; treats and bandages wounds or 
abrasions; and performs other basic life support procedures.  
-Stabilizes, immobilizes, lifts, moves, and transports injured, sick or incapacitated persons from 
residential or accident scenes to medical facilities.  
-Have a thorough knowledge of, and comply with, all Standard Operating Guidelines (SOG), 
policies, procedures, and protocols for the Waterloo EMS Department  
-Draft a detailed, accurate, and complete Patient Care Report (PCR) for each call response.  
-Maintain interior and exterior of department vehicles. This includes, but is not limited to, restocking 
and cleaning the exterior and interior of ambulances as well as general cleaning and upkeep of 
ambulances, fire trucks, and supply areas as needed.  
-Attend meetings, trainings, continuing education and refresher training programs as required by 
employer, medical direction, licensing and/or certifying agencies.  
-Communicates with professional medical personnel at emergency treatment facilities.  
-Inspects specially equipped emergency vehicles; cleans equipment to ensure its safe operation; 
and replenishes medical supplies, fuel, and fluids.  
-Be proficient in the use and maintenance of all ambulance tools, equipment, emergency medical 
supplies, and vehicles used by the ambulance department. 
 
EMS DRIVER: Minimum EMR 
-Respond to emergency and non-emergency 911 calls. 
-Provide efficient and immediate care to the critically ill and injured within the scope of their license.  
-Attend meetings, trainings, continuing education and refresher training programs as required by 
employer, medical direction, licensing and/or certifying agencies.  
-Operates various emergency medical vehicles such as an ambulance, truck, UTV, etc. 
-Inspects specially equipped emergency vehicles; cleans equipment to ensure its safe operation; 
and replenishes medical supplies, fuel, and fluids.  
-Operate EMS vehicles under normal and emergency conditions in a safe manner.  
-Operate standard equipment such as stretchers, cots, patient care monitors, and standard 
diagnostic equipment.  
-Extricate persons from vehicles; kneel, bend, lift, and stand for extended periods of time.  
-Perform CPR for extended periods of time.  
-Be able to remain calm and deliver quality care in high-pressure, extreme stress, situations.  
-Maintain good physical condition and personal hygiene.  
-Perform appropriate clean up and disposal of contaminated items when necessary.  
-Maintain patient confidentiality at all times.  
-Assist in public relations and recruiting of new personnel.  
 
 
 
 



POLICY AND PROCEDURE MANUAL WFD 

 

59  

 

Appendix M:  

MEMBER COMPENSATION/PAY 

 

Department Training:   $10.00 per training 

  

Department Meetings     $10.00 per meeting 

 

EMS shifts:        $7.50 per hour 

 

Extra EMS personnel for a call:   $18.00 per call 

 

2nd out EMS call:     $18.00 per call 

 

Fire response:     $18.00 per call 

 

Station Response:    $1.00 per call 

 

Supplemental makeup training:   $3.00 per training 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



POLICY AND PROCEDURE MANUAL WFD 

 

60  

 

Appendix N: 
 
 

Supplemental Training Form 
 

Members Name: ____________________________________________________ 

 

Make up training month: ______________________________________________ 

    Check one: 
Fire: _____         EMS: _____         Combination: _____         Operators: _____ 

 

Date: _____/_____/_______     Hours: ___________     Time Ended: ___________ 

 

In House training: ___________________________________________________  

Officers or Member: _________________________________________________ 

 

Training Course: ____________________________________________________  

Instructor: __________________________________________________________ 

 

Vector Solution Course: ______________________________________________ 

 

Webinar or Online training: ____________________________________________ 

Instructor or Website: ________________________________________________ 

 

Officer Signature: ___________________________________ Date: ___________ 

Please use one form for each month missed. Turn this paper into your training officer after 
completion. If you received a certificate from a class you took, please make a copy of it and submit a 

copy to your training officer or designee and to the Fire Chief for your personal file.  

 
 



POLICY AND PROCEDURE MANUAL WFD 

 

61  

 

Appendix O: 
 

Excuse Form 
 

 

Members Name: ____________________________________________________ 

 

 

Month Missing Training: ______________________________________________ 

 

Check one: 

Fire: _____         EMS: _____         Combination: _____         Operators: _____ 

 

 

Reason missing training: ______________________________________________ 

 

 

Members signature: _______________________________ Date: ______________ 

 

Called Chief or Officer: Date: __________  Time: __________ 

 

 

Chief or Officer signature: _____________________________________________ 

Please make out a form for each month missed.  

Thank you 

 
 
 
 



POLICY AND PROCEDURE MANUAL WFD 

 

62  

 

Appendix P:  
 

RECEIPT AND ACKNOWLEDGMENT OF POLICY & PROCEDURE MANUAL 
 
This manual is an important document intended to help members become acquainted with the 
Department and will serve as a guide; it is not the final word in all cases.  Individual circumstances 
may call for individual attention. The Policy and Procedure Manual may be updated at any time 
throughout the year.  This Policy and Procedure Manual supersedes any previous handbooks, 
policies, procedures, rules, or statements given to members, whether verbal of written. 

Please read the following statements and initial each individual item and sign below to indicate 
 your acknowledgment of the contents of the Policies and Procedures Manual.   

_______ I understand it is my obligation to read the Policy & Procedure Manual.  I understand the 
policies and procedures described in the Personnel Manual are subject to change at the 
Fire Chief’s discretion at any time. 

 
_______ I acknowledge I have read and understand the departments “Standards of Conduct Policy” 

within this manual.  I understand it is my obligation to attend all trainings, meetings, 
fundraising and Department required events. 

_______ I acknowledge I have the right to terminate my employment with the department at any 
time without notice.  In turn, I acknowledge the department has the right to terminate my 
employment at its sole discretion, subject to any applicable State or Federal statutes or 
constitutional requirements. I understand I must return Department issued items. 

_______ I am aware during the course of my employment; confidential information may be made 
available to me.  I understand this confidential information must not be given out or used 
outside of department premises or with non-department persons, except as required by 
law.  I understand this obligation exists even after my departure from this Department. 

_______ I understand that when the Department invests financially in my education, successful 
completion is required and a commitment of two years of service to the department is 
expected, and I will be a member in good standing; or I will be required to repay the 
department. 

_______ I understand my signature below indicates I have read and understand the above 
statements and have access to a copy of the Personnel Manual.  

        

________________________________________________     _____ 
                                             Member Name (please print) and Number 

 
 

____________________________________________ 
                                                 Member Signature and Date 

 





Signmaster Signs LLC
550 Commercial Ave.
Sun Prairie, WI  53590 US
(608) 834-0959
signmastersigns@gmail.com
www.signmasterllc.com

ADDRESS SHIP TO
City of Waterloo
136 N Monroe St
Waterloo, WI  53594

City of Waterloo
Estimate 1075

DATE 04/28/2023 

 

ACTIVITY QTY RATE AMOUNT

Refurbish
Option 1:  Full Refurb.  Remove signs bring back to shop, 
patch all holes and scratches, repaint entirely, Re-Install on 
existing structure

3 3,000.00 9,000.00T

Refurbish
Option 2: Partial Refurb of each sign (some needing more 
work than others)  Should be able to do most or all work on 
site over multiple days.  Repainting only the areas needed.  
Patching holes and scratches as needed.

1 3,750.00 3,750.00T

Option 2 partially painting signs all colors may not match 
perfectly as weathering/fading does happen to paint 
overtime.

Please feel free to call with questions.
Thank you

SUBTOTAL 12,750.00

TAX 0.00

TOTAL $12,750.00

Accepted By Accepted Date


